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QUALITY HOUSING

PURPOSE AND METHODOLOGY ARCHAEULOGICAL RESOQURCES

The purpose of this survey is to identify (list and map)
all designated and eligible for designation archaeological re-
sources in the thirty-four neighborhood study areas included in
the EIS for the Proposed Quality Housing Program Zoning Text A-
mendments. The maps and explanatory lists were compiled from
national, state and city departments. The identification of
potential archaeological sites and sensitive zones on the maps
and lists was not undertaken unless said resource was already
officially inventoried.

This report is organized by borough and each neighborhood
within each borough, organized numerically, is accompanied by
a map showing the inventoried archaeological resources. The
key on each map indicates the type of site or zone and in which
file it was located; explanatory material for listed sites and
zones is on a separate sheet following the map. The files re-
searched were: 1) The National Register of Historic Places;
2) contract reports, survey inventories and Department of Trans-
portation project reports in the New York State Historic Preserva-
tion Office; 3) New York State Museum records in the NYS Depart-
ment of Education; 4) New York City Landmarks Preservation Com-
mission {LPC) contract reports, sponsored studies and survey
inventories as well as source material used by LPC to flag areas
or parcels for archaeological consideration. An historical over-
view is provided for each neighborhood.

“B1sTORICAL IP} PERSPECTIVES



NEIGHBORHOOD MAP LEGEND

Information obtained from the State Historic Preservation Office
{including survey and contract reports, inventories, -and
DOT Projects)

¥« archaeological site, specific locale recorded
-~4-- archaeclogical site, general area reécorded
Information obtained from the New York State Education Department,
New York State Museum, DiviSLOn of Historical and Anthropological
Services
A archaeoclogical site, specific locale recorded
-Qr-a:chaeological site, general area recorded
Information obtained from the New York City Landmarks Preservation
Commission (reference materials as determined by the NYCLPC)

O, archaeoleogically sensitive area
reference volumes, alphabetized by author

0, archaeologically sensitive area
contract reports, alphabetized by author

t cemetery

A NYCLPC project that identified nineteenth century neigh-
borhoods and land use changes over time, in all 5 boroughs
of New York City, was studied. When specifically applicable
to archaeological sensitivity, the neighborhood project in-
formation will be included on the explanatory page and/or on
the map page with dates and legend on the explanatory page.
These studies were done in time periods and the map conven-
tion depicts:

~=- early nineteenth century
== mid nineteenth century

=== late nineteenth century.

New York City Designated Landmarks

a ©Only designated landmarks which could host significant
archaeological resources are mapped.

National Begister of Historic Places

@y Listed on the National Register

Mew York City Historice Districts
City Historic Districts.
National Register Historic Districts
: National Historic Districts

NOTE: If the same site has been identified by more than one Agency/

source, that repetition will only be noted in the explanatory

text.

Unless otherwise noted, all maps are on a north - south
orientation. Scales vary according to the base maps provided.

Certain maps are based on boundaries as deﬁicted in the first

issuance and were not adjusted after the final issuance of maps.
The slight boundary changes did not, in any way, alter the re-
sults of the archaeological overview.
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BROOKLYN NEIGHBORHOODS 1-9 INTRODUCTION

The following is a report of the documentary research
undertaken to assess the archaeological potential of nine
neighborhoods located in the Borough of Brooklyn, Kings
County, New York. There will be an overview of both the
prehistoric and historic eras of Brooklyn with an emphasis
on the project area. 1In addition to a discussion of the .
municipal history of the borough, background material for .
the date and type of settlers, the development of the road
and transportation systems, and the type of economic
activity in the general area will be provided. The last
section of the report will discuss, in very general terms,
the types of archaeological sites that may be potentially
identifiable within each Neighborhood.

A distinction between the two groups of neighberhoods
became obvious when their landuse and settlement patterns
were examined; and therefore, it was decided to treat them
different. Neighborhooeds 1, 2, and 3 are part of what was
early Brooklyn which contained the original village, the
first transportation arteries, and the municipal complex.
Also, the area north of Prospect Park experienced intense
urban development long before the sections to the south

which remained sparsely settled until the early twentieth
century.

To obtain an understanding of the archaeological
potential of Neighborhoods 4 through 9 pPrimary records were
consulted. The primary records examined were limited to
cartographic representations (i.e. city and county atlases
and maps). The graphic sources provide extremely detailed
information about the date, ¥ype, location, and extent of
development in each Neighborhood. These sources also
identify some of the early landowners of the project area.

All of th maps examined for this portion of the
project date between 1850 and 1920, during which time the
area changed from a rural, agricultural hinterland to a
mixed commercial/residential suburb of Manhattan.



BROOKLYN NEIGHBORHCOLS 1-9 PREHISTORIC OVERVIEW

Over the past thirty vyears New York archaeologists have
analyzed Indian artifact collections, studied ethnographic re-
ports, and have also excavated and interpreted newly discavered
sites to arive at a consensus of when the first people arrived in
the New York City area and how, through time, they patterned
their 1lifeways. (e.g., Ritchie, 1973 and 1980; saxon, 1973;
C. Smith, 1950; Ceci, 1980) Even though we know that Paleg-
Indians, migratory hunters of big game, were the first inhabi-
tants of southern New York approximately 10,000 - 12,000 vears
ago, evidence of these first inhabitants is cften very difficult
to locate archaeologically because the sea level rise since that
time period has inundated the earlier coastal regions. (Saxon,
1973: p. 202) However; through comparative analysis, we know
that Paleo-Indians preferred specific geographic locations:

(1) lowland sites near coniferous swamps and large rivers; and

(2) upland bluff and ridge-top sites where deciducus trees
dominated. (Rutsch, 1983: p. 33)

"The Early Archaic Stage (c. 9,000 Years ago) followed the
Paleo-Indian Stage in the Long Island area and is represented by
numerous small, nearly always multi-component sites, variously
situated on tidal inlets, coves, and bays. By the late Archaic
Stage (8,000 - 6,000 vyears ago), the exploitation of shellfish
resources was in full force; the coastal shell middens still
found today are a testament to this activity. Within the New )
York City area, there is evidence of a transitional culture be-
tween the Archaic and Woodland Stages. Substantial-sized sites
of the Snook Kill Phase of this transitional stage have been
located by archaeoclogists on high sandy river terraces. Although
numerous small camps did exist during this period, relatively

little use was made of inland sites." . (Kearns and Kirkorian,
1985: p. 8)

By the time of the Wocdland Stage (c. 3,000 years ago), the
sea level and topography of Neighborhoods 1 - 9 was essentially
the same as that viewed by the first European arrivals (c.1600).
This Stage 1is associated with the introduction of hand formed
clay vessels and maize cultivation and with sites situated on
knolls or well-drained terraces in close proximity to a water re-
source. Middlesex Phase sites of the Early Woodland Stage have
been most often discovered during sand and gravel mining opera-

. tions that were located near a lake or river. (Ritchie, 1980:

p. 201) Late Woodland sites are wusually found on the "second
rise of ground above streams or coves" and on "well-drained
sites." (ibid., PpP. 264-285)

According to maps made prior to 1640 Indians were occupying,
at the 1least, four 1long houses in the Kings County area. These
houses, reportedly occupied during the colder seasons, were lo-
cated on maps in the following vicinities: (L)Flatlands; (2)the
Present location of Borough Hall; (3)Indian Pond at Bay Parkway



and King's Highway; and, (4)Fort Hamilton. (Indian Trails of
Kings County, compiled by F. B. Cropsey, p. 9) Daniel Denton's
1660 revort of the Indian life on Long 1Island stated that the
native population was greatly reduced "and it hath been generally
obsérved, that where the English come to settle, a Divine Hand
makes way for them, by removing or cutting off the Indians either
by Wars one with the other, or by some raging mortal Disease." .
(Denton, 1902: p. 45) By Denton's time the Indian occupation had
decreased from six towns to two small villages and the west end
of Long Island hosted four or five Dutch towns and twelve English
towns in addition to wvillages and farm houses. (ibid., p. 40)
These Dutch and English settlements were situated in part on
property obtained by the West India Company (5/10/1640) from the
great chief Penhawitz, the head of the Canarsee tribe. {Stiles,
1867-9: p. 29) The Canarsee Indians were a strong western Long
Island tribe of the Metoac or Matouwas Confederacy. (Solecki,

- 1982: p. 97) The principal site and headquarters of the Indian

population was Canarsie, a name which still appears on the city
map in Flatbush. The village and planting fields extended inland
from the present Canarsie Beach Park as far a Avenue J where it
centered on East 92nd Street. (Lopez and Wisniewski, 1978:p. 208)
By the time of European arrival in New York harbor, the Native
Americans of the Brooklyn Neighborhoods 1-9 area were part of the

Delaware culture and speaking a Munsee dialect of the Eastern
Algonquian language.

Reginald Bolton, a New Yorker with keen interest in the
Native American past, published a series of books and articles in
the first part of this century verifying the locations of earlier
reports of Indian sites. Grumet's 1981 publication has extended,
corroborated, and, in some instances, corrected Bolton's place-
ment of habitation sites, planting fields, and trails. (See the
following Bolton, Grumet, and Kelly maps.)

According to Bolton's findings and interpretations, at the
time of European arrival the Native Americans of western Long
Island had large tracts of upland fields in corn cultivation but
their living and camping activities were concentrated along the

shore and watercourses. He stated that the "interior area was
destitute of occupied stations, owing to the absence of water-
courses." {Bolton, 1922: p. 130). However, he felt strongly

that the original. Indian paths that traversed the borocugh of
Brooklyn became the early colonial roadways and were still
traceable as nineteenth century highways. Currently there is a
concern among New York archaeologists that Bolton's assessment of
the paucity of inland sites, which is seemingly upheld by the
early twentieth century field reports, is only a. reflection of
the visibility and scale of the coastal shell midden sites and

that significant, smaller and/or specialized inland sites have
been overlooked. - '
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BROOKLYN NEIGHBORHOODS 1-9 HISTORIC OVERVIEW

The following narrative of the history of Brooklyn does

not pretend to be exhaustive or original. This material has
been included to provide a rough outline of the major forces
governing the development of the borough and the project
areas. The historical narrative will end in the early
decades of the twentieth century by which time the basic
pattern of the present cultural landscape was set. This
information is drawn mainly from David Ment's excellent
short work, The shaping of a cit : a brief history of
Brooklyn (c¢.1979). Additional material is drawn from J. T.
Bailey's early nineteenth century description of what became
the borough of Brooklyn, An historical sketch of the city of
Brooklyn, and the surrounding nei hborhood, including the
village of Williamsburqh and the towns of Bushwick, Flat-
bush, Flatlands, New Utrecht and Gravesend (1840). Also
consulted was Henry Reed Stiles', A history of the city of
Brooklyn, including the old town and village of Brooklyn,
the town of Bushwick, and the village and city of Williams-
burgh (1867-70). The information in this important source

provides a level of detail which is beyond the scope of this
pProject. .

A. Contact and Colonial Period

Prior to the expansion of European culture and settle-
ments into the New York Bay area the western part of Long
Island was occupied by the Canarsee Indians. The Canarsee
were members of the Algonkian linguistic group that in-
habited the Atlantic coastal area from Canada to North
Carolina. Major settlement areas include the Canarsie,
Flatlands, Sheephead Bay, Gowanus, and the downtown sections

of Brooklyn. Both present day Rings Highway and Flatbush
Avenue began as Indian paths (Ment c.1979:6-9), -

The earliest substantive European settlement was the
establishment in 1625 of New Amsterdam by the Dutch West
India Company on the southern tip of Manhattan. New Amster-
dam scon became the center of the company's commercial
network in North America. With the ascendancy of New
Amsterdam a pattern of economic and social relationships
between Manhattan and the other boroughs (and also the

adjacent areas of New Jersey) was cast that remains intact
to this day.



Land grants to individuals were made throughout the
1630's and early 1640's. By the mid-1640's the company had
acquired title from the aboriginals to most of what is
presently known as the borough of Brooklyn (identical in
area to Kings County). In the late 1640's much of the
shoreline and inland area were owned by Dutch farmers; with
major clusters occurring at the intersections of major roads
"around Wallabout Bay, Gowanus Bay, the ferry landing
(present day Brooklyn Bridge), and in several more southerly
areas, which became known as Midwout (Flatbush), New
Amersfoort (Flatlands), and Gravesend" (Ment c.1979:12-15).

The ethnic and religious diversity of New Amsterdam,
one aspect of which was the Dutch reliance on African slave
labor, was matched in the early Brooklyn settlements. As
early as 1642 English emigrants from Massachusetts Bay
Colony received a land grant and established the settlement

of Gravesend. A town charter was obtained in the late
1640's.

The Dutch settlement of Brooklyn (also spelled Brucklyn
and Breuckland), following the lead of Gravesend, was
charted in 1646. Charters and recognition of local
magistrates were granted by the directors of the Dutch West
Indian Company to New Amersfoort as early as 1647, Midwout

in 1652, New Utrecht in 1657, and Bushwick in 1661 (Ment
c.1979:15).

Throughout the remainder of the colonial period (and
for some time after the War of Independence) the rural towns
of Brooklyn remained small, essentially Dutch, farming com-
munities. While there obviously were changes in local
governmental institutions, there was no wholesale change in
Property ownership or religidus persecution following either
the conquest of New Amsterdam in 1664 or the War of
Revolution (1776-83). The flow of grain and vegetable
produce from the farms remained steady to the markets in
Breucklan and Manhattan. "Population grew slowly in the

seventeenth century and remained below 3000 through most of
the eighteenth century" (Ment ¢.1979:18). '

B. The 19th Century to the End of the Civil War

The expansion of the City of New York was the major
reason for the growth of Brooklyn throughout this entire
period. By the end of the 1830s New York was the most



of Brooklyn, and to a larger extent, the

populous city and the most important seaport of the nation.
As Brooklyn became a residential suburb of Manhattan,
economic and population growth occurred primarily in the
town of Brooklyn, then centered around the East River ferry
landing. In 1816 a portion of the town of Brooklyn was
incorporated as the Village of Brooklyn and in 1834 to the
creation of the City of Brooklyn (Ment c¢.1979:28).

The character of the rural towns, including‘Flatbush,
Flatlands, New Utrecht, and much of Brooklyn and Bushwick
was in sharp opposition, but necessary, to the developments

growth of New York.
These prosperous agricultural communities, with a strong
Dutch heritage, continued to produce food, and farm products
for secondary processing and distribution, for the Brooklyn
and New York markets. Up until 1827, when slaves were

emancipated in the county, there was a widespread use of
slave labor in agriculture.

The middle third of the century was a period of tran-
sition for Brooklyn, and was reflective of major changes
occurring in the nation as a whole and in New York City. -
The national economy was transformed by industrialization
and a variety of internal improvements, including canals,
railroads, and river steamers that reinforced connections
between agricultural regions and manufacturing and port cen-
ters, especially New York City. Brooklyn remained eco-
nomically joined to New York City and shipping and manu-
facturing companies located along the waterfront. The
waterfront was an ideal location for receiving raw
materials, fuel, and shipping manufactured goods.

During the period between 1830 and 1860 the population
of Brooklyn grew to 267,000 due to natural increase,
immigration, and annexation. In 1855 the cities of
Williamsburgh, Greenport, and the rest of Bushwick were

added to Brooklyn, which by 1860 was the third most populous
city in the country (Ment ¢.1979:38).

The growth of the City of Brooklyn into rural areas
required the extension of transportation systems, the
construction of new residential neighborhoods, and the
installation of municipal services. Improvements in
transportation included the horse-drawn railroad and
expanded ferry service over the East River. This period
also witnessed the construction of a massive water system
(based on reservoirs in Ridgewood). Finally, perhaps in



response to the rapid development of areas and as a retreat
from the increasingly crowded city, there was a movement to
preserve and landscape open spaces, resulting in the
establishment of Green-wood Cemetery in 1838 and Prospect
Park, started in 1860 (Ment c.1979:49)

The rural towns of Kings County remained basically
small, farming communities throughout this period. The
total population of the area in 1865 was less than 15,000
(Ment c.1979:38). Prior to 1840 Coney Island and Bath House
(also known as Bath, located to the west of Coney Island in
New Utrecht) was the nearest area to New York for sea
bathing. This development represents the start of the
recreational and resort industry in the area. Another

economic activity of the area was shad fishing {Bailey
1840:41-51).

C. The Late Nineteenth Century

The continued growth of New York City in the late
nineteenth century, eventually leading to the consolidation
of Brooklyn and Manhattan (and Queens, Bronx and Richmond)
into Greater New York, guaranteed development in Brooklyn.
"The interdependence of the two cites was most visibly
symbolized by the completicn of the Brooklyn Bridge in 1883"
(Ment c¢.1979:55). But the economic relationship between the
cties was controlled by Manhattan and by a vast shoreline
undergoing constant improvement. In addition to a tremendous
growth in shipping and manufacturing between 1868 and 1898,
the Brooklyn waterfront controlled a greater tonnage than
Manhattan. Manhattan controlled the manufacture and
shipping of higher valued commodities. Many Manhattan
manufacturing companies maintained their executive and sales
offices in Manhattan while rélocating their facilities,

especially those that need plenty of space, to Brooklyn
{Ment c.1979:56).

Population in Brooklyn continued to soar as a result
of the economic growth centered on the waterfront. Also, by
the late nineteenth century, changes in the means of
transporting the even increasing number of people resulted
in the extension of first, the horsecar and then steam
railroad, throughout the county. These forms of
transportation, which generally followed the routes of older

roads, stimulated the development of the shore resort
industry.



In the outlying towns, outside the City of Brooklyn,
the main economic- activity, even at this late date,
continued to agriculture. Along the south coast the resort
industry expanded adjacent to Coney Island, the premier
resort spot for the upper and middle class of New.York.

In 1874, as a prelude to the expansion of the City of
Brooklyn a Town Survey Commission was created by the New
York State Legislature to survey and map the towns of
Flatbush, Flatlands, New Utrecht, and Gravesend. The
commission superimposed a city street grid throughout the
remaining undeveloped portion of the county, which either

incorporated or resulted in the vacating of portions of the
historic road network.

The present street grid, based on the commission's
blueprint was not realized until well after the opening of
the Brooklyn Bridge and the construction of regular rapid
transit throughout the area. With increased urbanization of
the rural areas the towns of Flatbush, Gravesend, New

Utrecht, and Flatbush were annexed by Brooklyn in 1894 and
1896 (Ment c.1979:62).

D. The Twentieth Century

As a borough of New York City, Brooklyn in the
twentieth experienced peaks in populations, industrial
growth, and in terms of total employment. Between 1900 and
1940 the population doubled to 2.6 million, which would have
been the third largest city in the country. fMent ‘c.1979:68-72) .



BROOKLYN NEIGHBORHOOD 1

BOERUM HILL/COBBLE HILL/LOWER PARK SLOPE/
FOURTH AVENUE/ATLANTIC AVENUE

Situated in one of the oldest areas in Brooklyn, this neighbor-
hood lies only three blocks from the old Brooklyn City Hall and
was intersected by pre-Revolutionary streets like Red Hook Lane,
today's Court Street. There was a high hill (called Cobleshill
and shown on the Ratzer 1766~67 map) at the intersection of
Court with Atlantic and Pacific Avenues that was a fortification

during the Revolutionary War's Battle of Brooklyn for the Conti-
nental forces.

The area was well settled early in the 19th century and lay with-
in the boundaries of the first Village of Brooklyn (1834).
Atlantic Avenue was the main commercial thoroughfare and contained
the main line of the Long Island Railroad from 1836 to 1861

when the railroad was cut back to Flatbush Avenue., 1In later

years trolley lines grid-ironed the tract with tracks on Atlantic

Avenue, Court Street, Boerum Street, Bergen Street, Smith Street,
Hoyt Street, and Third Avenue.

There are blocks of row houses and a number of old churches, some
run down. Many of the properties have been converted to factories/
commercial establishments; at the turn of the century there were

already a number of bottling works and express companies among
the private homes. '

There are parts of two historic districts within Neighborhood 1.
From Atlantic to Baltic and from Clinton to Court are blocks

in the Cobble Hill historic district (New York City designation).
"The district developed as result of the establishment in 1836

of ferry service from Atlantic Avenue to South Ferry in Manhattan,
and was well advanced by the time of the Civil War. With the
treeshaded District are rows of architecturally interesting
dwellings...representing succesgive phases of stylistic develop-

ment" from the 1830s to the early 20th century. (Landmarks Pre-
servation Commission,1979,p.61)

The entire Boerum Hill Historic district lies within the bounds
of Neighborhood 1. It was quite fashionable in the mid-19th
century and still retains many fine examples of row and single
houses. It "was named after an o0ld Brooklyn family which for
generations played a prominent role in the area." ({LPC,1979,p.58)
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BROOKLYN NEIGHBEORHQOOD 1
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Mew York State Museum Inventoried 3ite:

camp site (reference: A. C. Parker, 1920, Kings County #2)
Parker's information came from Furman's description of a
*barren sand hill 70 feet high and covered with stones,"”
which is given in full in Lopez and Wisnlewski's "The
Ryder's Pond Site, Kings County, New York" in The Coastal
Archaeology Reader, Vel. II in the Readings in Long Island
Archaesclogy and Ethpnohistory. DNew York: SCAA,

This prehistoric site is in the boundaries of Neighborhood 3.

NYC LPC Neighborhood Maps, 1852

1-15 agricultural-land and undeveloped land

15 undeveloped land
residential community

3-6 residential and industrial combination. This is the
category that the majority of the northern section of the
Neighborhood falls into. The southern section of the
Neighborhood that fronts on Fourth Ave. is technically
outside the boundaries of the Brooklyn Village of 1852.
This southern area was a combination of residential and
other uses and undeveloped parcels like its northern half.

New York City Historic District:
Boerum Hill Historic Distriect (c.1848-1880)

Reginald Bolton has four major Indian trails converging

at the Atlantic and Flatbush Avenues intersection. For a
complete description of this prehistoric potential see

Kearns and Kirkorian, "Phase IA Archaeological Impact Report
for the Atlantic Terminal Urban Renewal Area Project, Brooklyn,
New York," Mss. on file with the NYCLPC.

Grumet's .research indicates a high concentration of prehistoric
activity that appears to be in the area due west/south of the
Neighborhood where the original watercourse flowed. Grumet
places planting fields, habitation sites, and trails in this
area, which may, in part, coincide with the Neighborhood
parcel.

cemetery
Veghte Family Plot, Fifth Ave. and 3rd St. - 9 stones
1780-1840



BROOKLYN NEIGHBORHOOD 2
PARK SLOPE (SOUTH)/WINDSOR TERRACE

Neighborhood 2 is in the area of Brooklyn called Park
Slope, which, like the rest of Kings County was inhabited by
Carnarsee Indians. Dutch settlers arrived in 1636 and their
village was granted a patent by the governor in 1646. From
then until the first half of the nineteenth century, the Park
Slope section was farm land. The rapid growth of Brooklyn in
the 1820s, its incorporation as a city in 1834, and a street
plan in 1839 encouraged real estate speculation in the area.
However, it was not until construction of Prospect Park began
in 1866 that development really burgeoned.

"Even before the park was developed, an aristocratic tone
had been set for the new neighborhood by the lovely country
house of Edwin Clark Litchfield...The tract he assembled included
the high ground that now comprises the central portion of Park
Slope from First to Ninth Streets, as well as a broad area of
meadows and marshes lower down near the Gowanus Canal [the
study area]." (Ment, 1979,p.67) Litchfield's villa still stands
and is in Prospect Park. Much of the building which followed
was speculative, but on an elegant scale. Most blocks were
developed with row houses, though mansions and single family

homes were built, especially circling the park and in the northern -
sector.

At the turn of the century, Park Slope was almost entirely
residential with most of its inhabitants commuting elsewhere
to work. "It was ethnically and economically homogeneous,
although incomes were certainly higher at the top of the Slope
near the Park than at the bottom [where Neighborhood 2 is lo-
cated]."” (ibid.,p.77) From about the time of World War I, the
neighborhood began to decline, first with the proliferation of
lodgers and then with the alteration of the now ageing buildings.
On some blocks a creeping urban decay set in, but some of that
process has been reversed by a renewed interest in the housing
stock. A WPA writer characterized the study area in the 1930s
this way: "Prospect Park West is an equally fine neighborhood,
which west of Sixth Avenue changes into an area of seedy houses,
industrial plants, and warehouses." (WPA,1939,p.478)
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BROOKLYN NEIGH3ORHOOD 2

—— [YC LPC Neighborhood Maps, 1390s
1 - agricultural land
3 - residential community: Park Slope
15-3- undeveloped land and scattered residences

Mew York City Historic District ' .
é@% Park Slope Historic District, southern extension of District
extends into Neighborhood 2, as shown on map.



BROOKLYN NEIGHBORHOOD 3
; ATTANTIC TERMINAL/PROSPECT HEIGHTS/EASTERN PARKWAY/
WASHINGTON AVENUE _

Tho proiact area lies approximately 13 to 2 miles inland
and in a scutheasterly direction from the ferry landing (today's
Fulton Ferry at tha foot of the Brooklyn Bridge) about half way
between the East River shore and the settlement of Bedford near
the Flatbush line (the arm of the study area extends east along
the southern boundary of Bedford.). The land was cutside the
1646 chartered village, but included in the 1657 "Town" bounda-
ries. The acreage of the parcel fans out from intersections
of the most historic roads in the borough. Here the road from
the ferry split, one branch continuing on to Jamaica {Queens)
while the other went to Flatbush to the southeast. A third
turned southwest toward Gowanus. These meandering roads -
straightened, regulated, or re-routed in the second quarter of
the 19th century - generally followed routes of old Indian paths
which the white settlers improved and widened. The main road
from inland to the shore had originally been a principal Indian
trail which was subsequently widened into a wagon road, known
as the Ferry Road. It was laid out in 1704 as a king's highway
into Jamaica and Flatbush.

Most of the Neighborhood 3 parcel was included in the
second group of land patents (the first was the ferry settle-
ment) granted by the Dutch West India Company in the 17th cen-
tury. It served primarily as farm land from then through the
post-Revolutionary period with more dense settlements dotted
along the main roads.

The enormous growth of New York City in the early 19th
century clearly affected all of its neighbors. The village form
of government became inadequate and in 1834 Brooklyn obtained
a city charter from the state legislature and the transition
to an urban center began. However, despite the grandiose visions
of city planners, the study area was still in an inchoate stage
of urbanization until the mid~19th century. Even the introduc-
tion of the railroad in 1836 made little difference at first,
but it and other indicators predicted what the future held.

Many landowners began selling off their homesteads which were
laid off in building lots. Many blocks of brownstones were
typically erected along with churches and schools and other
manifestations of suburban living.

In the 20th Century, small industrial establishments and
warehouses were added to the study area.

The study area was and is criss-crossed with generations
of railroad, horsecar, trolley and subway lines.
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BROOKLYN NEIGHBORHOOD 3

OB Rezinald Bolton's research resulted in the placement of
intersecting Indian trails that corresponds to the present-
day intersection of Atlantic Avenue and Faltbush Avenue.
(Grumet, 1981: p. 70C) :

—«=NYC LPC Neighborhood Maps, 1852
15 undeveloped land
315 residential and undeveloped land
6 industrial activity

~..—NYC LPC Neighborhood Maps, c. 1898
Park Slope residential community
now the Park Slope Historic District
> Bedford residential community
—A- New York State Museum Inventoried Site:
3606camp site (reference: A, C. Parker, 1920, Xings County #2)
Parker's information came from Furman's description of a
"barren sand hill 70 feet high and covered with stones,"
which is given in full in Lopez and Wisniewski's "The
Ryder's Pond Site, Kings County, New York" in The_ Coastal
Archaeology Reader, Vol. II in the Readings in Long Island Ethno-
History and Archaeology. New York: SCAA, .




BROOKLYN NEIGHBORHOODS -9

This section will consist of a verbal description of
the neighborhoods, followed by an annotated listing of the
potential archaeoclogical sites, all of which are represented
on cartographic sources as either being on the border or

. within a particular area. The following categories or types

of sites are noted for each study area:

A. Infrastructural Sites
l. Transportation improvements (roads, railroads)
2. Municipal systems (water, sewers, etc.)

~ 3. Landfill '

B. Farmsteads and residential sites

C. Commercial and industrial sites

D. Recreational sites



BROOKLYN NEIGHBORHOOD 4
BORO PARK/SUNSET PARK

Neighborhood 4 is located in the Borough Park section
of Brooklyn adjacent to the south and west of Greenwood
Cemetery. The area can be conveniently divided into two
rectangular sub-areas that flank 9th Avenue to the northwest
and southeast. The northwest portion of the neighborhood
measures eight blocks wide by four blocks long and is
bounded by 5th Avenue on the northwest, 39th Street on the
northeast, and by 47th Street on the southwest. Sunset
Park, the most prominent landscape feature of the sub-area,
spans six city blocks between 41st and 44th streets and 5th
and 7th avenues. The southeastern portion of the
neighborhood measures nine blocks wide by six blocks long
and is bounded by 15th Avenue on the southeast and by 42nd

and 51st streets on the northeast and southwest,
respectively.

In general, the present street grid of the entire area
is laid out with avenues extending in a northwest to
southeast direction. Streets intersecting the avenues at
right angles. The southeast portion of the neighborhood
contains two roads that cut across the grid and fragment the
city blocKks: Fort Hamilton Parkway, which extends in more of
an easterly direction than the avenues, and New Utrecht
Avenue, which runs north/south through the neighborhood.

A. Infrastructural Sites

1. Transportation improvements {roads, railroads)
2. Municipal systems (water, sewers, etc.)
3. Landfill

The major historic roads are present Fort Hamilton
Parkway and New Utrecht Avenue, both date prior to
1852. The "Brooklyn and Bath Plank Road" runs along
the route of New Utrecht Avenue. An abandoned segment
of the "Brooklyn and Bath Plank Road," is within the
study area (see Dripps 1852). ;

A "Toll House", probably associated with the plank road
is shown near study area (Walling 1859)

An unidentified railroad replaced the plank road
(Dripps 1868). .



No new roads or rail lines on Beers, 1886.

Presently, a subway runs along the same route of the
road and appears to have destroved most, if not all,
remains of earlier roads or railroads.

B. Farmsteads and residential sites

Area devoted to agriculture, no structures shown on
Dripps (1852) and Walling (1859).

A single structure in study area oriented to New
Utrecht Avenue (Dripps 1868).

An unidentified structure, Possibly the same structure
shown on earlier map (Beers 1886).

C. Commercial and industrial sites

No sites depicted on Dripps (1852), Walling (1859),
-Dripps (1868). -

"M. Websters's Son Open Air Carpet Cleaning W'ks"
located near 49th Street and Fort Hamilton Avenue
(Beers 1886).

L

D. Recreational sites

‘No sites depicted on Dripps (1852), walling (1859),
Dripps (1868), and Beers (1886).
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SROOKLYN NEIGHBORHCOD 4

Reginald Bolton's research indicates a prehistoric habitation
site in an area between the boundaries of Neighbirhood 4 and
Greenwood Cemetery (approximatly ).

Q; Bolton's Indian tail crosses through the mid-section of the
Neighborhood.

—— NYC LPC Neighborhood Maps, 1850s

9 - cemetery

8 - park

153 the vast majority of the Neighborhood listed as undeveloped
land with scattered residenres. The thin corridor between
the Neighborhood and the Greenwood Cemetery vroperty was
the first parcel in the area to be altered for commercial
use.



BROOKLYN NEIGHBORHOOQOD 5
CCEAN PARKWAY/DITMAS PARK

Neighborhood 5 is an irregqular shaped zone located in
the Flatbush section of Brooklyn. The project area measures
approximately one block wide and three blocks long from 8th
to 11th Avenue (adjacent to the southwest of Prospect Park)
and runs in a northwest/southeast direction. Proceeding
southward from Terrace Place to Church Avenue the
neighborhood is approximately four blocks wide by eight
blocks long. South of Church Avenue the neighborhood
extends almost due south along Ocean Parkway for a distance
of approximately twenty-one blocks, ending at Avenue I.

With the exception of Cortelyou Road and Avenue H, where the
neighborhood widens to the east, this portion of Area 5§
consists of the blocks bordering both sides of Ocean
Parkway. Another segment of Area 5 extends east along Coney
Island Avenue from Church Avenue to Foster Avenue {approx-
imately six blocks long and two blocks wide). Flanking
Cortelyou Road and Newkirk Avenue, respectively, the

neighborhood is one and one half blocks wide and nine blocks
long. ; }

The present street grid of Neighborhood 5 is oriented
with avenues running in an east/west direction and streets
intersecting the avenues at right angles. Within the
neighborhood are numerous roads that run counter to the
general orientation of the grid, in usually a
northeast/southwest direction, such as Cortelyou Road and

Newkirk Avenue east of Coney Island Avenue, and Church
Avenue.

A.'Infrastructural Sites

1. Transportation improvements (roads, railroads)
2. Municipal systems (water, sewers, etc.)
3. Landfill

The historic roads are present-day Coney Island Avenue,
identified as the "Coney Island Plank Road"”, Church.
Avenue, Cortelyou Road, and Foster Avenue. The area
between 18th Avenue and Foster Avenue is identified as

"Greenfield" a mid-nineteenth century development
(Dripps 1852)

Same basic roads but more development north of Church
Avenue, some new streets, "Plank Road Co." building
located in northern part of study area (Walling 1859)



"Coney Island Railroad” replaces plank road (Dripps
1868).

All of the major roads are shown. On Coney Island
Avenue is a "Horse-car Railroad". Ocean Parkway is
called Ocean Boulevard, and the "Brooklyn and Flatbush
and Coney Island Railroad", a steam railroad runs along
the course of road (Beers 1886).

B. Farmsteads and residential sites

Area devoted to agriculture, a single homestead shown
in the Greenfield section (Dripps 1852).

Residential development in area southeast of Greenwood
Cemetery (Walling 1859).

Scattered development in Greenfield and north of Church
Avenue west of Coney Island Avenue, increasing through
time (Dripps 1868, Beers 1886).

C. Commercial and industrial sites

No sites depicted on Dripps 1852, possible commercial
activity along the more densely populated roads, no

industrial sites (Walling 1859, Dripps 1868, Beers

D. Recreational sites -

No sites depicted on Dripps (1852), walling (1859),
Dripps (1868), and Beers {1886). '
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BROCKLYI JEIGHBOREOQD 5

OB Reginald Bolton placed an Indian trail on the approximate

route as the present day Flathush Ave., that passes the
eastern boundary of the Neighborhood.

NYC LPC Neighborhood Maps, 1850s

3 - residential cluster to the immediate northwest of the
Neighborhood

12- transportation complex

15-3 undeveloped land with scattered residences dominated the
Neizgzhborhood
The residential clustering that occurred as the century
progressed concentrated along wnat 1s now Ocean Parkway
and radiated out from the original Flatbush Village,
which is to the northeast of the Neighborhood.

National Register Historic Landmark:

The Flatbush Town Hall, the Flatbush Reformed Dutch

Church, and Erasmus Hall were part of the core of the original
Flatbush community. (Symbol is representative of the address
of the Town Hall - 35 Snyder Avenue.)



BROOKLYN NEIGHBORHOOD 6
THE JUNCTION (NOSTRAND AVENUE/FLATBUSH AVENUE)

-Neighborhood 6 is located in the Flatlands section of
Brooklyn, south and east of the Brooklyn College campus.
The irregular shaped zone extends for about five blocks
along Nostrand Avenue between Glenwood Road and Avenue L.
While the majority of the area is three blocks wide, east of

32nd Street, between Avenues H and I, the neighborhood is
nine blocks wide. .

The predominate orientation of the road network is with
streets extending in a north/south direction. The avenues
(with the exception of Nostrand Avenue) intersect the
streets at ninety degree angles. Within the neighborhood
both Flatbush Avenue and Amersfort Place, in opposition to

the regular grid, stretches in a southeast/northwest
direction.

In addition to the road network, the right-of-way for
the Long Island Railrcad cuts east/west through the
neighborhood between Avenues H and I.

A. Infrastructural Sites

l. Transportation improvements (roads, railroads)

2. Municipal systems (water, sewers, etc.)
3. Landfill

The main historic road is Flatbush Avenue, and present-
day Amersfort Place is the old route of the road
(Dripps 1852)

Flatbush Ave labelled as "Flatbush Plank Road" (Walling
1859, Dripps 1860).

Flatbush Ave straightened, "Manhattan Beach Railroad"
(steam) extends through area (Beers 1886), presently
the Long Island Rail Road.



B. Farmsteads and residential sites

Three structures, possibly farm complexes oriented to
Flatbush Avenue and Amersfort Place apparently located
in study area (Dripps 1852, Walling 1859, Dripps 1868)

Four potential sites shown on Beers (1886).

C. Commercial and industrial sites

No sites depicted on Dripps (1852), Walling (1859},
Dripps (1868) and Beers (1886).

D. Recreational sites

No sites depicted on Dripps (1852), Walling (1859),
Dripps (1868), and Beers (1886).
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BROOKLZM MZIGHBORHOOD 6

B Reginald Bolton (1922) placed an Indian trail on the
path of Flatbush Ave. - at least the section thatl passss
through Neighborhooed 6. (Grumet, 1981t: p. 70)



BROOKLYN NEIGHBORHOOD 7
MIDWOOD

Neighborhood 7, a rectangular zone located in the
Flatlands section of Brooklyn. The area, which measures
four blocks wide and seventeen blocks long, is bounded by
Avenue M on the north, Quentin Road on the south, and by
East 4th Street and East 21st Street on the west and east,
respectively. As in the previously described neighborhood,
the present road network is generally oriented with avenues
running in an east/west direction. Ocean Parkway, Coney
Island Avenue, and Ocean Avenue are exceptions to this rule.
All streets stretch in a north/south direction. In opposi-
tion to the grid is a portion of Kings Highway, which cuts
across the southeast corner of the neighborhood in a roughly
east/west direction. Other roads running counter to the
grid include a portion of Bay Avenue {in the northeast
corner) and Ryder Avenue. Bay Avenue is oriented at a right
angle to Kings Highway and extends to the northwest.

A. Infrastructural Sites

l. Transportation improvements (roads, railroads)

2. Municipal systems (water, sewers, etc.)
3. Landfill

The main historic roads are the "Coney Island Plank
Road", Bergan Lane (present Ocean Parkway), and Kings
Highway (Dripps 1852, Walling 1859) '

"Coney Island Railroad" replaces the plank road (Dripps
1868, Beers 1886).

B. Farmsteads and residential sites

A total of ten structures within study area, four
possible farmsteads, all east of Coney Island Plank
Road, and oriented to Kings Highway (Dripps 1852}

A single additional structure shown near Ocean Parkway,
possible in study area (Walling 1895).

Area north of Kings Highway, along Foster Avenue,
called "New Greenfield" (Dripps 1868)



Increasing number of structures through time (Beers
1886).

C. Commercial and industrial sites

No sites depicted on Dripps (1852}, Walling (1859},
Dripps (1868) and Beers (1886).

D. Recreational sites

No sites depicted on Dripps (1852}, Walling (1859),
Dripps (1868), and Beers {1886).
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H30RHOOD 7

Grumet has placed the makeopaca tract of land north of the
Kings Highway in the Nelzhborhood 7 area. This is not a
specific habitation site but the name of a "great clearing or
open field.” (Grumet, 1981: p. 22)

Grumet has placed the tract, "identified by the Indians

as Massebackhun", in the Neighvorhood 7 vicinity - south

of the Kings Highway. The precise boundaries are unknown -
Grave?end section of southwestern Brooklyn. (Grumet, 1981:
p. 31

Reginald Bolton's Indian trails research placed a trail,
mechawanienk, alonz the Kings Highway in Brooklyn and
Queens.

NYCLPC Neighborhood Maps, 1898
3 - along the road, now called Ocean Parkway, was a
residential cluster

8 - Brooklyn Jockey Club



BROOKLYN NEIGHBORHOOD 8
. BENSONHURST

Neighborhood 8 is located in the Bensonhurst section of
Brooklyn. The irregular shaped zone is best described if
broken into northeast and southeast sub-areas. The
northeast portion extends along Bay Parkway between the
Shore Parkway (Belt Parkway) on the southwest and 65th
Street on the northeast. The general orientation of a
majority of the road network is in a northeast/ southwest
direction. Northeast of 86th Street the avenues extend in a

.northeast/southwest direction and are intersected by street
at right angles. Southwest of 86th Street the situation is

reversed.

The southeast portion of Neighborhood 8 is bounded by
Cropsey Avenue on the northeast and by the Shore Parkway on
the southwest., The area measures approximately one block
wide and fourteen blocks long. The blocks within the
neighborhood are oriented in a slightly more easterly

direction than the blocks of the prevailing grid to the
north.

In opposition to the grid of the general area is the
west terminus of Kings Highway, which extends in a east/west
direction, and the area north of Kings Highway than flanks
Bay Parkway to the southeast. The city blocks within this
portion of the neighborhood are part of a grid that extends
in a north, northwest to south, southeast direction.

A. Infrastructural Sites

l. Transportation improvements (roads, railroads)
2. Municipal systems (water, sewers, etc.)
3. Landfill v

The major historic roads are Kings Highway (a portion
extends further west than the present road) and Cropsey
Avenue. The "Bath and Coney Island Plank Road" extends

along the route of Cropsey Avenue (Dripps 1852, Walling
1859)

Same roads as above, some filling in area west of
Stillwell Avenue on Dripps (1868).



The "Brooklyn - Bath and Coney Island Railroad" runs

along Bath Avenue in an east/west direction (Beers
1886]). :

B. Farmsteads and residential sites.

In the northeastern portion of the study area there
were four structures near or in the study area. Near
Bath Avenue and Bay Parkway were two structures owned
by "Egbert Benson" a major land owner of the area. The
area along shore is labeled as "Unionville" with
numerous structures, located in village, Many of the
structures, including a church, are within the study

area. Some structures owned or occupied by the Cropsey
family (Dripps 1852)

Same as earlier map, but with more development (Walling
1859, Dripps 1868).

Fewer number of structures show on Beers (1886).
C. Commercial and industrial sites

A "Dye Wood Mill" was located on a neck of land near
the extreme southeast portion of the area {Dripps 1852,

Walling 1859, Dripps 1868). The mill is not shown on
Beers (1886).

D. Recreational sites

No sites depicted on Dripps (1852), Walling (1859),
Dripps (1868), and Beers (1886).
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NYC LPC Neighborhood Maps, 1398

15 stream-filled wetland

15-3 undeveloped land with scattered residences
12 transportation complex

10 docks and wharves

8 park

3 residential cluster

3 Gravesend - residential community
}3Unionville - residential community
3uBath Beach - residential community

35 Bath - residential community



BROOKLYN NEIGHBORHCOD 9
BRIGHTON BEACH

Neighborhaod 9 is located in the Coney Island section
of Brooklyn adjacent to Brighton Beach. The generally
rectangular area is situated south of the Shore Parkway
(Belt Parkway) and east of Ocean Parkway. The area measures
approximately fifteen blocks long between Sheepshead Bay
Road and Ocean Parkway and five blocks wide between the
Shore Parkway and the south shore of Coney Island.

Unlike the other neighborhoods, there is no single
overriding grid in Neighborhood 9, and the orientation of
the streets and avenues will be given in reference to the
area's major roads: Ocean Parkway, Coney Island Avenue, and
Brighton Beach Avenue. West of Coney Island Avenue, which
runs in a north/south direction, to the west boundary of the
neighborhood the streets are oriented in a northwest/
southeast direction. East of Brighton Beach Avenue the
streets are oriented in a northeast/southwest direction.
East of Corbin Avenue to the neighborhood's limits the
street grid is laid-out in a north, northwest/ south,
southwest direction. Two of the major avenues that
intersect the streets, besides Coney Island and Brighton
Beach Avenue, are Neptune and Ocean View Avenues.

A. Infrastructural Sites

1. Transportation improvements (rocads, railroads)
2. Municipal systems {water, sewers, etc.)
3. Landfill

The major historic road is "Coney Island Plank Road",
which runs along present-day Coney Island Avenue and
that portion of Brighton Beach Avenue west of Coney
Island Avenue (Dripps 1852, Walling 1859).



A "Toll Gate", probably associated with the plank road
is located on the south side of Coney Island Plank

Road, west of where Brighton Beach Avenue bends to west
(Walling 1859, Dripps 1868).

A horsecar rail line follows the route of Coney Island
Avenue in neighborhood. Also, steam railroads include
the "New York and Manhattan Beach Railrocad" and the
"Broocklyn, Flatbush and Coney Island Railroad”.

Finally, a new road is shown on Beers (1886): Ocean
Parkway.

B. Farmsteads and residential sites

Map is unreadable in this area, so there may be some
structures on the high ground (Dripps 1852).

No residential structures (Walling 1859, Dripps 1868, Beers
1886).

C. Commercial and industrial sites

Map unreadable (Dripps 1852)

Unidentified "Factory" located north of the westward
bend of the plan road (Walling 1859).

Factory structure is now unidentified (Dripps 1868).
The "factory" is not depicted on Beers (1886).

D. Recreaticnal sites

No sites depicted on Dripps 1852, but numerous hotels

are immediately adjacent to project area (Walling 1859,
Dripps 1868). : i



Within the study area on the Beers map (1886), is a
race track of the "Brighton Beach Racing Assn." located

on the site of the former factory, and "Bader's Grand
Cent.. Hotel'","
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3RO0KLYN NEIGHBORHOOD 9

—w— NYC LPC Neighborhood Maps, 1398

- residential cluster fronting
- park .

- Brighton Beach Race Track

» - Bicycle Track

5 - undeveloped land

A - stream-filled wetland

(610N}

S

—a— New York State Museum Inventoried
3608 A prehistoric turialsite and shell
1920,Kings County #4)

on Neptune Avenue

Site:
heaps (reference: Parker,



BROOKLYN NEIGHBORHOODS % -9 SUMMARY

In summary, a wide range of potentially identifiable
cultural resources may be located within the six Brooklyn
neighborhoods. The majority of the sites are domestic
farmsteads and farm complexes that are characteristic of the
long history of the area as an agricultural hinterland of
New York City. Some of these potential sites, which for the
most part are oriented to the historic road network, may
date to as early as the first half of the seventeenth
century. Archeological resources associated with the site
may provide information about Dutch and English colonial
society and economics. '

The historic road network (and other internal
improvements, such as railroads) in addition to providing a
locus for settlement, can be considered sites in and of
themselves. The various segments of plank roads and
railroads within the study areas that have escaped
demolition by subsequent maintenance and replacement by
different forms of transportation may vield important
evidence regarding construction techniques and method of
modification. '

The small number of industrial sites that may be
within the entire project area is not surprising. These
sites, which were apparently dependent or subservient to
agriculture, the area's main economic activity, may provide
important information about colonial technology, the
commercial development of the immediate area, and early
nineteenth century manufacturing.

Finally, a number of sites within the study areas are
associated with the recreation and resort industry, such as
hotels, racetracks, and amusement complexes. These types of
sites may contain archaeclogical resources which can provide

insights into how different ethnic and social classes spent
their leisure time.
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BRONX NEIGHBORHOOD 1
RIVERDALE

Bronx Neighborhood 1 includes territory of three established
communities: Spuyten Duyvil, Kingsbridge, and Riverdale.
Bounded by both the Hudson and Harlem Rivers, Neighborhood Number
1 stretches, in an irregular manner, as far north as 239th Street
and as far east as Corlear Avenue. The Henry Hudson Parkway
(Route 9A) runs through the parcel that is proposed for resoning,
as does Johnson Avenue. Neighborhood 1 contains several small
parks, e.g., Ewen Park and the Henry Hudson Memorial Park.

The westernmost ridge that runs in a north-south direction
through the Bronx extends f£rom Yonkers through Riverdale and
Spuyten Duyvil to the confluence of the Harlem and Hudson
Rivers. When first encountered by European explorers, Neighbor-
hood 1 was topographically very different from what is currently
visible. A brook bounded the eastern portion of the Neighbor-
hoad, the Marble Hill station area (which is actually cutside the
rezoning boundaries) was an island at high tide, and the Spuyten
Duyvil Neck of land extended southerly into what is now consider-
ed Manhattan.

The earliest ethnographic reports of the project area are
from Henry Hudson's expedition up the "North River" aboard Half

- Moon. His men attempted to capture two natives and a skirmish

later ensued with these Indians who had a large village site at
the mouth of Spuyten Duyvil Creek (where the Harlem River now
joins the Hudson River). (Comfort, 1906: p. 3) Native Americans
of the Munsee-speaking upper Delaware culture undeniably exploit-
ed the resources of this elevated site which was sourrounded by
both major and fresh water resources. There is a certain degree
of confusion as to whether we associate Neighborhood 1 with the
label of: (1) wiechquaeskeeks - individuals or groups, first
identified as Wikagyl in 1616, that occupied northern Manhattan
and portions of the Bronx but by the 1640s were situated in
central Westchester County (Goddard, 1978: p. 214; Grumet, 1981:
pp. 59-60); or, (2) nipnichsen - which is Belton's (now dis-
puted) collective ' term for the Native American defenses (c. 1643-
1644) on the north shore of the Harlem River in the southern
section of Riverdale. (Grumet, 1981: p. 40) There is agreement
on the high degree of prehistoric and contact period exploitation
of the neighborhood 1 area. Gowahasuasin, probably a habitation
site, was identified by the Indians in 1669. (Grumet,1981: p. 10)
Another probable habitation site, shorakapkock, was located at
the northernmost reach of the Harlem River - at one time the Cold
Spring Harbor section of Spuyten Duyvil Creek. (ibid.: p. 52)
(See the following maps.)

In 1645 ownership of a large tract (that included Neighbor-
hood 1) that was bounded by the Croton River, Bronx River, Harlem
River, and Hudson River was confirmed as a patent by Governor
Kieft to Dr. Adrian Van der Donck, who purchased the parcel from
the Indians. Later the southern portion of the parcel, south of



Dogwood Brook (approximately 247th Street), was sold to wWilliam
Betts and Geocrge Tippett. (Fordham Library Branch, Bronx History
Reference Division Scrapbooks: p. 429) The southern extremity of
the north-south ridge that passed through Riverdale was known as
Tippett's Neck (or Tibbett's Hill) since the Tippett homestead
was near the end of the point. Through marriage the neck passed
into the hands of the Berriens; "and after the Revolution until
the present [1912] the promontory has been known as Berrien's
Neck." (Jenkins, 1912: p. 21) The Berrien was still standing in
the late nineteenth century. (Comfort, 1906:p. 19) For centuries
this tract was used as farmland.

The Neighborhood 1 area hosted considerable activity during
the Revolutionary War. In June of 1776 "Washington had inspected
with great thoroughness the region around Kingsbridge. Finding
seven places well fitted for defence, he promptly gave orders, as
he "esteemed it a pass of the utmost importance in order to keep
open communication with the country.'" (Comfort, 1906:p. 23) Un-
fortunately these fortifications weren't all completed before the
British succeeded in uniting their forces from the north with
those that already held Manhattan. As late as 1900 the remmains
of some of these fortifications, including Fort 2 in the study
area, were still visible on the landscape. It was reported
that nineteenth century construction on the site of Fort 4
unearthed several six-pounders. (Comfort, 1906: p. 24) (See map.)

The Townships Act of 1788 placed Neighborhood 1 area in
Yonkers. By the mid-nineteenth century (1852) the extreme
southern section of Yonkers had been laid out in a wvillage plan
by three men from Troy and, eventually, was officialy named
Spuyten Duyvil. At the base of the ridge bluff they established
a foundry which supplied projectiles for U. S. Navy guns.
(Jenkins, 1912: p. 330) "In 1853 Hudson Park was laid ocut by a
land company in the northwest corner of the Betts and Tippett
tract of 1668, on a farm belonging to Samuel Thomson." (ibid.:
p. 327) North of Hudson Park was the eighteenth century Hadley
farm that became part of the Delafield estate that was intact
into the twentieth century. The Riverdale area in the north of
Neighborhood 1 was known for its pastoral atmosphere and fine
country residences that dotted the heights along the Hudson Riv-

er. (French, 1860: p. 707) This reputation lasted into the
twentieth century. (See maps. ) ‘

The history of Neighborhoood 1 is, in many ways, the history
of transportation 1links with Manhattan. As early as the late
1660s, ferrying rights between new Amsterdam and the north shore
of Spuyten Duyvil Creek were granted. The first Kingsbridge, a
tell bridge, was erected in 1693 in approximately the same
location as the present Broadway bridge that crosses the Harlem
River. Between 1713 and 1900 the Kingsbriidge was removed, due
to inconveniences of hte high tide at the Creek, "to near the 0ld
Manor of Fordham." (Jenkins, 1912: p. 188) In 1846 the first
railroad bed and railroad bridge was laid along Yonkers' Hudson
shoreline and connected with Manhattan. (Comfort, 1906: p. 79)



The Harlem Ship Canal was opened in 1895 and irrevocably al-
tered the borough's topography. Spuyten Duyvil Creek and much of
the surrounding low-lying marshland was filled in with materials

removed from the excavaticon at Grand Central Station. (See the
following Grumet map for details of the Neighborhood shoreline
changes.) Both the completion of the Ship Canal and the in-

creased building activities in the Bronx after the introduction
of the elevated railroad necessiated the completion of increased
docking facilities along the shore. (Jenkins, 1912: p. 196}
Currently, the Bronx - Manhattan connection is dominated by the
Henry Hudson Parkway bridge. :
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NEIGHBORHOOD 1

New York State Museum Number, prehistoric site referred
to as Mappock (reference: Harrington) '

New York State Museum Number, prehistoric village site
(reference: A. C. Parker, 1920, "Bronx #16)

New York State Museum Number, traces of prehistoric
occupation (reference: Parker)

This site corresponds to Bolton's designation shorakapkock,
the Cold Spring Harbor sction of Spuyten Duyvil Creek.

Bolton's site gowahasuasing was originalyy located on the
neck of land that extended from the southern tip of
Neighborhood 1 into Spuyten Duyvil Creek but was severed
from the Bronx when the Harlem Ship Canal was dug.

The State Historic Preservation Office has two sites listed
that are directly north of the Neighborhood 1 area - in the
park at the foot of 247th Street.

NYC LPC Neighborhood Maps, 1878

3-2 - residential and commercial area
15 - swamp
3 - residential area
a——--= NYC LPC Neighborhood Maps, 1896-7
3 - residential areas
6 - industrial area
7 - institutional complex

New York City Designated Landmark:
Edgehill Church of Spuyten Duyvil, 2550 Independence Ave.

Note: Another NYC Landmark, the H. F. Spaulding House
(Coachman's Residence) is located north of Neigh-
borhood 1 at 4970 Independence Ave.

The Kingsbridge Burial Ground, aka the Berrian Family
Plot, which is listed in the NYC LPC's files was not
located. Accoridng to Dr. William Tiek {author of
Kingsbridge and Souyten Duyvil and School Days in
Riverdale, this family cemetery is no longer traceable.
(personal communication, 6/27/86)
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Photocopied from

Bolton, Reginald

1934 Indian Life of Long Ago in the City of New York.
New York: Joseph Graham.
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BRONX NEIGHBORHOQOD 2 |
WILLIAMSBRIDGE/WAKEFIELD

The most dominant factor affecting the settlement patterns
in the Bronx was its natural topography: a system of north-south
running ridges with rivers and streams lying in the comparatively
level adjacent valleys. (NYCLPC, 1983: n.p.) These elevated
ridges are continuations of the ranges of hills of Westchester
County. The ridge forming the eastern side of the Bronx valley
has a considerable elevation at Wakefield and Williamsbridge, but
it falls away gradually toward the shores of the East River and
the Sound. Quality Housing Neighborhood 2 1is situated on this
elevated eastern ridge that parallels the Bronx River. General-~
ly, the western border of this neighborhood is one or two blocks
east of the Bronx River Parkway except for a plot that crosses
the River and extends slightly west of Webster Avenue between
236th Street and Nereid Avenue. The eastern boundary of Neigh-
borhood 2 is roughly continguous with White Plains Road. The
northern boundary of this neighborhood is one to three blocks
south of the Bronkx County - Westchester County 1line. The
southern portion of this neighborhood is located east of Woodlawn
Cemetery and the northern portion is three to five blocks from
the historic Van Cortlandt Park. Portions of the current
communities of Wakefield (in the north) and Williamsbridge (in
the south) are within Neighborhood 2. ’

Although current archaeological settlement pattern data
indicates a preference for elevated ridge top sites that are
located near a major fresh water resource and the extensive
Native American exploitation of the borough is well documented,
there is very little definitive indication that Neighborhood 2
hosted a significant prehistoric site. Bolton's research in the
earlier part of this century indicates that an east-west Indian
trail (Sackerah) paralleled the Bronx River, probably following
the ridge crest, from approximately the Gun Hill Road crossing of
the River to just north of East 222nd Road from where it turned
in a northeasterly direction. Therefore, the Indian trail may
have only briefly coincided with the Neighborhood 2 parcel.
(Grumet, 1981: p. 69; See map.) A review of the archaeological
files in the State Historic Preservation Office, in the New York
State Museum, and the New York City Landmarks Preservation Com-
mission did not yield known or recorded prehistoric archaeologi-

. cal sites in the subject area.

The topographical features of the Bronx dictated, to a
large extent, the original political divisions within its area.
The north-south running rivers and streams acted as natural
boundaries in the establishment of distinct towns within the
borough. In 1683 the county of Westchester was formed. "Its
western boundary was the Hudson River; its northern, Dutchess
(now Putnam) County; its eastern, the Connecticut Colony and Long
Island Sound; its southern, the East and Harlem rivers and
Spuyten Duyvil Creek. The Borough of The Bronx was included
within the county of Westchester until 1874 for the western part
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of the Borough, and until 1895 for the eastern part. Its history
is, until these dates, that of the county.

The northernmost portion of what is now New York City was
the location of intense activities during the Revolutionary war.
The intersection of East 233rd Street and Barnes and Bussing
Avenues was the site of War activities. This intersection, known
historically as Meteaque's Corners, was the junction of the ori-
ginal Post Road and the road to White Plains. (McNamara, 1973:
P. 18) The colonists erected a semicircular redoubt approximately
1000 feet west of the Williamsbridge crossing of the Bronx River
in what is now Woodlaw Cemetery. The British occupied, for a

extended time, the entire Borough with an outpost at Williams-
bridge.

By act of the sState Legislature, March 7, 1788, all the
counties were divided into townships. There were twenty-one of
these in Westchester County, following very closely the lines of
the ancient manors and patents." (Jenkins, 1912: pp.1-2) The
Bronx of today was covered by six of these towns: Yonkers,
Pelhman, Morrisania, Eastchester, and Westchester. The township
of Westchester included all the land between the Butchinson
River, the Bronx River and Long Island Sound. The northern
boundary was the * Eastchester township line that ran along the
Black Dog Brook. (ibid.: p. 6) Eastchester township was bounded
on the west by the Bronx River, on the north by Scarsdale, on the
east by the Hutchinson River and on the south by Black Dog
Brook. At one time the northernmost extent of this part of New

_ York City was Black Dog Brook, or 229th Street. In 1894 the

pecple of the southernmost section of Eastchester voted to become
part of the City of New York and the northern boundary was
extended to the present location. (ibid.: p. 5) Neighborhood 2
eéncompasses areas that were originally part of Eastchester and
also areas that were originally part of Westchester.

The initial transportation routes between Manhattan, the
territory to the north, and the Bronx were established in the
north-south running wvalleys. The Native American trails ran
along the natural water courses in the ridge valleys. Early
colonial roadways followed these same paths. "Many early roads,
haowever, began as private means of access to tracts of property.
It was not until the mid-nineteernth century, after the major
railroad corridors ~were built, that the.systematic layving out of
roads encouraged the development of previsously inaccessible
portions of the borough." (NYCLPC, 1983: n.p.) Mid-nineteenth
century rail connections were originally laid out according to
these same ridge lines. These rail lines, later augmented by the
elevated, made it possible for "mechanics ,and working men doing
business in the city,” to go back and forth daily, "living in the
country for the sake of economy." (French, 1860: p. 696) "The
New York and Harlem Railroad was completed to Williamsbridge in
1842. By 1844, it was extended to White Plains in Westchester
County. This rail line serviced the settlements of Morrisania,
West Farms, Fordham, and the cities of Yonkers and White Plains.



The Hudson River Railrcad was completed in 1849, which also pro-
moted the growth to the west and north. The New York and New
Haven Railroad was completed in 1848. However, its only Bronx
station was at Woodlawn (233rd Street - in Neighborhood 2), which
did nct do much to push growth in the surrounding farmlands."

(NYCLPC, 1983: n.p.) French's 1860 Gazateer 1lists the planned
communities of Wakefield and Washingtonville as "modern" and the

majority of Westchester as a suburban community. (French, 1860:
pPp. 696-706)

The political changes (boundaries, names, and incorpora-
tions) of these modern villages between 1850 and 1900 can be
confusing. A Wakefield community, laid out in 1853, was in-
corporated into the village of Williamsbridge in 1888 along with
the communities of Olinville #1, Olinville #2, and Jerome. This
Wakefield community was situated east of the White Plains Road.
As referred to earlier, the norther boundary of Williamsbridge
was 229th Street. (Jenkins, 1912:p. 419) When a portion of East-
chester was added to New York City, "The name of Washingtonville
was that originally applied to the station on the Harlem Railroad
where the NHRR leaves the Harlem tracks and swings to the east-
ward (approximately 240th Street]; but a few years ago the name
was changed to Wakefield, which has thus become the upper end of
the city." (Jenkins, 1912: p. 421; See map.) Matilda Street in
Washingtonville was home (erected ¢.1854) to the famous singer
Adelini Patti. (Comfort, 1906: p. 50)

Writing in 1912, Jenkins observed that the Wakefield land
east of the Bronx River, abreast of Woodlawn Cemetery, was still
undeveloped. (Jenkins, 1912: p. 421) As late as the 1920s and
1930s, the northern extent of the Borough, reached by the Third
Avenue EL which followed the subway tracks on White Plains Road
until elevation at 241st Street, offered spectacular views of the
countryside. The huge Victorian Gothic Crawford Memorial Church
at 218th Street was a local landmark into the twentieth century.
During the early part of this century, Neighborhood 2 was domi-
nated by frame residences, with a few apartment houses near the

tracks. Local shopping was concentrated along White Plains
Road. (Ultan, 1979: p. 24)
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3RONX NEIGHBORHOOD 2

Og Reginald Bolton's research on Indian trails resulted in one
trall, called sackerah, that he believed ran on an east-west
axls across the north Bronx - following the path of the
present White Plains Road, north until approximately 225th St,
until it moved in an easterly, northeasterly direction.

—..—= NYC LPC Neighborhood Maps, 1870s
1-3 - agricultural land and scattered residences, in extreme
western section of Neighborhood

3 -~ residential area
31 =~ residential area: Washingtonville
3 - residential area: Wakefield

33 - 0llinville

—--=NYC LPC Neighborhood Maps, 1986-7
2-6 - commercial/industrial complex located in the extreme
western sector of the Neighborhood, on the west bank
of the Bronx River
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1934 Indian Life of Long Ago in the City of New York.
New York: Joseph Graham.
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BRONX NEIGHBORHOOD 3
PELHAM BAY

Neighborhood 3 is an irregularly shaped parcel that lies
between the southern tip of Pelham Bay Park and the Hutchinson
River. Westchester Avenue bisects the Neighborhood in a south-
west to northeast line. The original Westchester Creek water-
course flowed along the west side of the Neighborhood. The ex-
tensive St. Raymond's Cemetery is south of the Neighborhood.

There are numerous prehistoric archaeological sites listed
for the eastern portion of what is now considered the Bronx. The
Siwanoy, a Munsee-speaking Upper Delaware tribal group, occupied
the area when the Eurcpeans first arrived. They had been
attracted to the coastal sites for the same resources that later
attracted the colonists: shellfish, arable land, cool breezes,
fresh-flowing water, convenience of water travel, etc. Ethno-
graphic reports from the first settlers have described their
hunting, fishing, and camping systems. Artifactual evidence of
their past occupation of the eastern half of the Bronx is still
being unearthed, investigated, and reported. There are pre-
historic sites inventoried for areas due north and south of the
Neighborhood but there are no specific sites recorded within the
boundaries. Reginald Bolton's early twentieth century research
vielded many Indian trails that correspond to early colonial
roadways and even the streets abnd highways operable today - such
as the trail that Bolton believed corresponded to the section of
Tremont Avenue that passes through the blocks south of the Neigh-
borhoced. Grumet's more recent work (1981) contains this same
trail. (See the following map.) A local historian has described
this path as a very important link between the two tribal groups
occupying different banks of the Bronx River. "It crossed
present day Fordham University lawns alsongside Fordham Road, and
crossed the Bronx River on a 1line with Lyvdig Ave. It was the
narrow forerunner of Bear Swamp Road (now Bronxdale Ave.) and led
through Westchester Square to two large settlements -~ one in Old
St. Raymond's Cemetery, and the other where Schley Ave. meets
Eastchester Bay." (McNamara, 1984: p. 14) The Dutch "extinguish-
ed" the Indian title to the land in 1643. (French, 1860: p. 706)

The eastern portion of the Borough of the Bronx did not
develop as quicky as the land lying west of the Bronx River.
One early village center was Westchester. This village center
was immediately southwest of Neighborhood 3 and is now known as
Westchester Square. (Fordham Branch Library of the NYPL, Bronx
History Reference Division Scrapbooks, p. 127) As early as 1693
the English had established a market in Westchester and it was
made a borough town in 1696. The accompanying maps, that depict
the Bronx in 1776 and in 1867, indicate the concentration of
development around the Westchester Village and the lack of deve-
lopment in the Neighborhood area. Under the Townships Act of
1788 a great deal of the eastern half of the Borough was called
Westchester; but by 1860, the Village of Westchester, at the head



of the "navigable Creek," supported 1,000 scattered inhabitants.
(French, 1860: p. 706) The following twentieth century photo-
graph 1is of Westchester Square. The coming of the railroad
opened up the Neighborhood 3 area to rapid development. "The
advent of the railroad lines making the ara accessible from
the north, south, and west was the single most important factor
in the area's development. The Harlem River and Port Chester
Railroad {the present Harlem division of the New York Central),
built in 1872 can be seen as the start of the rapid development
of the eastern half of the borough. This section was annexed to
the City of New York in 1895." {NYCLPC, 1983: n.p.) The rural
area to the northeast of the village no 1longer centered its
activities on the Creek, which was eventually filled north of
East Tremont Ave. "Any archaeological work in the Bronx must
take into account the extensive, perhaps more than in any other
borough, landfilling." (ibid., n.p.)
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BRONYX NEIGEBORHOOD 3

__A-?SBO
New York State Museum Inventory Number i
According to Arthur C. Parker (1920, The Archaeological History
of New York), site (prehistoric) focus is shellheaps on west
side of Eastchester Bay, at mouth of a small brook. This area
is directly north, northeast of Neighborhood 3, abutting the
loop (on northeast side) of Interchange 1 of the Throgs Neck
Expressway.

—..— NYC LPC Neighborhood Maps, 1868

2-3 - Westchester Village, commercial and residential
combination _

3 - Stinard Town village in north section of Neighborhood,
residential

3 - Middle Town village in south section of Neighborhood,
residential

The remainder of Neighborhood 3 classified as unimproved
land with scattered residences

—~...— NYC LPC Neighborhood Maps, 1897
3 - residential community
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Museum of the City of New York

New York:

1981 Native American Place Names in New York City.
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Grumet, Robert S.
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At the End of the English Period. [Insert:] Batile-field of Pell's Point, Oct. 18, 1776.

Photocopied from

Jenkins, Stephen

1912 The Story of the Bronx. New York:
G. P. Putnam's Sons.
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1912 The Story of the Bronx. New York:
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ABOVE: From Westchester Avenue
at Westchester Square, looking
northwest in 1910, one can see
the stores on East Tremont
Avenue. Among them are the
Knickerbocker Marker, the
Westwchester News Company, a
saloon, a theater, 2 confectionery, a
restaurant, Peterson’s drugstore,
and a grocery. The horse trough
and drinking fountain in the cenrer
of the photograph were donated
by a Mr. Cocley.

Photocopied from

Ultan, Lloyd and Gary Hermalyn
1964 The Bronx in the Innocent Years, 1890-1925.

New York:

The Bronx Historical Society.



BRONX NEIGHBORHOCD 4
EASTCHESTER

Neighborhood 4, 1is bounded (approximately) on the east by
the Bruckner ExXxpressway, on the south by Bartow and Tieman
Avenues, on the west by Givan, Baychester, and Crawford Avenues,
and on the north by Seton Falls Park, Marolla Road, and the
Boston Secor Housing Complex. The massive Co-Op City Complex,
directly to the east of the Neighborhood and located between I-95
and the Hutchinson River, dominates the Neighborhood cityscape.
Haffen Park, known for its attractive art-deco swimming pool, is
situated in the west section of the Neighborhood, across from the
Workmen's Circle Home for the Aged.

The evidernice for prehistoric exploitation of the Neighbor-
hood 4 area is not definitive. Although there is strong evidence
for Native American occupation on the west bank of Eastchester
Bay, at Throg's Neck, City Island, Hunter Island, and parts of
Pelham Bay Park, there are no recorded sites within the precise
Neighborhood 4 boundaries. (McNamara, 1984: p. 14; Parker, 1920:
p. 490; James Field, Paine-Huguenot . Historical Society, New
Rochelle, NY, personal communication; Ralph Solecki, Columbia
University, NYC, NY, personal communication) Neither Reginald
Bolton nor Robert Grumet locate a habitation site in the Neigh-
borhood. (See the following map.) The absence of a recorded
prehistoric site does not indicate the actual absence of any such
resource. In actuality, the northwestern boundary of the Neigh-
borhood abuts Seton Falls Park which, according to the Bronx
historian Randall Comfort, is the location of an Indian cave,
Indian fortification, and also a mysterious Indian hiding place.
(Fordham Branch of the NYPL, Bronx History Reference Division
Scrapbooks, p. 302) This northwestern portion of the Neighbor-
hood does conform to the geographical and envirconmental type of
site exploited during prehistoric periods: (1) elevated knoll or
terrace; (2) proximity to a large water resource (Hutchinson
River); (3) proximity to a fresh water resource (Rattlesnake
Brook); (4) proximity to the main trails and paths (Split Rock
Road). Of prime importance in assessing the prehistoric
archaeological potential of the Neighborhood is the relatively
undistubed nature of large portions of the subject area.

Neighborhood 4 was part of a land tract of 9,160 acres pur-
chased from the Indian Chief Wampage by Thomas Pell on November
14, 1654. Pell's treaty with the Indians included a vast area of
what is now the Bronx: all of the lands east of the Hutchinson
River to Mamaroneck, including City Island, Hunter's Island, and
the other small islands bordering the shore- Pell's Point; all of
the towns of Pelham; New Rochelle; and an area west of the River
including East Chester, part of Mount Vernon, and other acreage
in the Bronx. (Beyer Blinder Belle, 1985: p. 5) "around 1715
one Rev. John Bartow bought much land along the west bank of the
Hutchinson River extending back to Eastchester Road and this pur-
chase, for some unknown reason, he called "Scabby Indian." A
portion of this real estate transaction was known as Rose



Island. (This 1Island, approximately 14 acres, 1is no longer
recognizable as an island - having been incorporated into the
land that now supports I-95 and Co-Cp City.)

The Pell family were Loyalists and fled to New York City
during the Revolutionary War. The Battle of Pell's Point, fought
in the Pelham Bay Park in October, 1776, proved to be a signifi-
cant turning point in the patriots' long struggle. "The superla-
tive resistance put up by a colonial brigade against the landing
of British and Hessian troops saved the main bulk of the American
Army and taught the invading professiocnals that the “irregulars'
were a force to be reckoned with." (Fordham Branch of the NYPL,
Bronx History Reference Division Scrapbooks, p. 164; The accom-
panying magazine illustration indicates these army movements,
which were to the east of the Neighborhood.)

In c.1790 Robert Givan purchased from Bartow a fertile tract
of land lying alongside Eastchester Road, and sloping eastward to
the Hutchinson River, eventually including Givan Creek and Rose
Island. The G@Givans called their property Ednam,' after their
estate in Scotand. They moved into a house that was already
standing on the high ground. Givan, a miller, also purchased
water rights from Bartow to power his mill. "The Givan homestead
(part of it standing before our Revolution) is located [1964] at
Mickle Ave., behind the Post Office off Givan Square."
(McNamara, 1964:p. 12) (See the accompanying newspaper sketch.
This site is located one block outside the extreme southwestern
Neighborhood boundary.)

This eastern portion of the Bronx developed more slowly and
in different patterns than those areas west of the Bronx River.
"Farms and estates with scattered village settlements existed
along the shorelines and the present Westchester County border,
Hutchinson River and Westchester Creek, leaving the vast central
part largely undeveloped. This situation persisted well into the
last quarter of the 19th Century. Much of the northeast portion
of the area, the former manor of Pelham, was swamp and therefore
undeveloped. The advent of the railroad lines making the area
accessible from the north, south, and west was the single most
important factor in the area's development. The Harlem River and
Port Chester Railroad (the present Harlem division of the New
York Central), built in 1872 can  be seen as the start of the
rapid development of the eastern half of the borough. This
sgction was annexed to the City of New York in 1895." (NYCLPC,
1983: n.p.) :

"In 1902, the upper half of the original Givan
farm became a real estate development. Miss Agnes
Arden had died some years earlier, but the land had
remained in the family's possession and so the venture
was given the name of Arden Estates.

Around the same time, the remaining portion of the
Givan lands - owned by the Palmers - was subdivided and



put up for sale as Pelham Bayview Park.' On the 38
acres, a LeRoy Avenue [Adee Avenue] was laid out, as
was a Palmer Boulevard ({never cut through], a Palmer
Avenue and a Givan's Drive [only a footpath remains]."
(Fordham Branch of the NYPL, Bronx History Reference
Division Scrapbocks, p. 189)

" Early in this century the Neighborhood pastoral scene was
further disrupted by the establishment of the ill-fated amusement
park, Freedomland, on the land that is now occupied by Co-Cp
City. (White and Willensky, 1978: p. 358) The once marshy land
and island clusters were extensively filled for the unsuccessful
venture - a process that continued when the housing complex was
erected. '

Currently in Neighborhood 4 there are numerous de-mapped
roads (e.g., southern section of Grace and Ely Ave. and portions
of Marolla), vacant land (e.g., the area between Palmer and
Boller), and a mixture of housing types - large, multi-story
housing. complexes (e.g., the J. Jugan Building), detached ocne
family homes with small, well kept 1lawns (e.g., on the souther
portions of Tieman, Gunther and Wickham), duplexes, and the one
story stone cottage complex on Boller Street, immediately south
of the elevated esplanade. The northwest sector of the Neighbor-
hood, in particular, has an idiosyncratic atmosphere - hosting

‘commercial, one family home lots, housing complexes, and rela-

tively untouched open space. The original rough topography of
the land can be appreciated in this area of the Neighborhood.
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3RONK NEIGH3O0RHOOD 2

R. Bolton placed an Indian trail (1922) within the Neizhborhood,
on route of 3oston Post Road

e——NYC LPC Neighborhood Maps, 1868
15 - undeveloped land, site of present Co-0Op City
3-2-1residential, commercial, and agricultural strip along
a section of the Boston Post Road
All of Neighborhood 3, with small exception, as noted above,
is listed as undeveloped land and scattered residences.

—. NYC LPC Neighborhood Maps, 1896-7
3 - As outlined on the map, Neighborhood 3 is listed as
residential.
3 - Pelham Bay View Heights

32 - Arden Estate
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1964 "The Bronx in History: ‘Ednam,' Givan Family's
Mansion Still Stands in Eastchester Area," in
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Scrapbooks, p. 164



BRONX NEIGHBORHCQD 2
NORWQOOD

Quality Housing Neighborhood 3 in the Bronx corresponds to
the community area called Norwood. Originally known as Norwood
Heights, the neighborhood 1is clearly defined by both the
topography and man-made boundaries. It is a triangular shaped
parcel situated on a plateau to the north of Bedford Park and
surrounded by open space - Bronx Park, Van Cortlandt Park, Wood-
Woodlawn Cemetery and Mosholu Parkway.

Norwood is an example of the thorough planning that resulted
in the many distinct enclaves in the borough. "The Bronx was the
most carefully planned of New York City's five boroughs. 1Its
parks were mapped out long before land was cut up into lots,
streets paved, and buildings constructed. This happened because
Andrew Haswell Green, who became New York City's Park Commission-
er in 1857, foresaw the city growing with only blocks of
buildings without consideration for parks and gardens. He was
disturbed that a forty-five year old plan was still being used by
the c¢ity fathers without any c¢hanges having been made for
including parkland while the city was growing." (Mead, 1982:

P- 9) By 1898 when Greater New York City was incorporated,
the parkland and streets of the Bronx were planned and both Van
Cortlandt and Bronx Parks were established. Most of Norwgod's
streets, that once were associated with the adjacent landowner's
name, now carry names either of the great patriots who served our
country in its early days, or the names of past engineers in the
Department of Public Works. Numbered streets in Norwcod run from
202nd sStreet through 211th Street. Most of them, including

Bainbridge, Decatur, Perry and Van Cortlandt Avenue East, are
bisected by Mosholu Parkway.

Prior te the controlled development of the last one hundred
years, the Norwood neighborhood area experienced at least three
other occupaticens --- prehistoric exploitation, farm usage, and
expansive estate divisions. As early as c¢.l1614 it is recorded
that Native Americans, called the Siwanoy, occupied the northern
coastline of Long Island Sound from Norwalk, Connecticut to what
is now known as the south Bronx. However, Norwood is on the
west bank of the Bronx River and this water course may have been
the dividing line between the Siwanoy and another Upper Delaware
Munsee speaking cultural group called the Wiechquaesgeck.

(Grumet, 1981: pp. 59-60) Reginald Bolton's "Indian Paths in the
Great Metropolis" mentions an east-west Indian trail that tra-
versed the north Bronx. This early path (first recorded in
c.1669), known as Sachkerah, appears to cross through the middle
of the current Norwood neighborhood. (ibid: p. 48) (See the
following map.) Sachkerah apparently crossed through an Indian
site called Cowangough. This locale could have been simply a
"boundary place" or a "wading place." (ibid.: pp. 9-10)

Zvidence of an extensive (and possibly permanent) village to the
north of Norwocod was uncovered many years ago by a J. B. James.
According to Bolton's report of this site, foodpits, human



burlals, dog burials, ceramics, and lithic artifacts were found
around the Van Courtlandt Mansion and scattered cver the playing

field adjeining the old building. (Bolton, 1972: p. idl,See map.)

The first official purchase of lands from the Native
Americans of the Bronx area was in 1639 and Jonas Bronk became

. the first recorded white settler in the borough area. (Jenkins,

1912: p. 28) As with the rest of the borough, the Norwood
neighborhoecd was farm land till the time of residential develop-
ment. Issac Valentine, a blacksmith and a farmer of Dutch des-
cent, was Norwood's first resident. At this time Norwood was
part of Westchester County, formed in 1683. In approximately
1758 Valentine built his fieldstone home on what is now the cor-
ner of Bainbridge Avenue and Van Cortlandt Avenue East. (Mead,
1982 pp. 17-20)

During the Revolutionary War an American fort, manned by
Negroes and known in the history of the City as the Negro Fort,
was located just north of the Norwood parcel and west of the
Wiiliamsbridge crossing of the River. This site is now within
the property of Woodlawn Cemetery. (Jenkins, 1912: p. 28}

As late as 1911 cows grazed on two farms in Norwood. The
Miller family farm bordered on Holt Place and Reservoir Oval
East, the road that encircles the playground today. Miller's
farm was not large, but the cows supplied enough milk for neigh-
borhood customers, who had to bring their own milk pails. The
Allen's farm was located on the northwest corner of Gun Hill Road
and Bainbridge Avenue. Today, high-rise houses cover the farm-
lands. (Mead, 1982: p. 33.See map.)

In 1866, Norwood had a private estate named "Fairlee." The
land, 13.147 acres, . was purchased on November 10, 1866, by
William Watson Niles and Isabel White Nilas from Mary Berrian,
et al. It was bounded on the north by Woodlawn Road (now Bain-
bridge Avenue) from 205th +to 207th Streets, on the south by
Mosholu Parkway, east by Bainbridge Avenue and west by 207th
Street. A private road ran through the property from the front
of the main house, built in 1869, leading southward to what is
now the center of Mosholu Parkway. After World War I the Niles
estate was sold and cut up into building lots for stores and
apartment houses. 1In the rear of these buildings the rock forma-
tion and elevation of the estate 1land can be seen as it was
originally. (Mead, 1982: pp. 27-30)

A second stone structure £from the. pre-development era in
Norwoed is the Williamsbridge Reservoir keeper's house built in
1888 on the corner of Reservoir Place and Reservoir Oval East.
The Williamsbridge Reservoir itself has been the center of
Ncrwood since its construction began in the 1880s. "Water from
the Bronx River was impounded at New Castle in northern
Westchester. It was admitted into the Williamsbridge Reservoir
on December 4, 1888, by way of the Kensico Dam and through the
Bronx River pipeline that was built under Putnam Avenue in



Norwood. wWhen filled, the reserwvoir held 130,000,000 gallons of
water, 40 feet deep.

The huge bowl towered over house tops on its eastern side
and closed off the view from the house windows that faced it.
Small backyards separated the houses from the lower fieldstone
wall of the reservoir which still may be seen behind houses at
3321 to 3331 Perry Avenue. By the 19230s, the reserveir had
outlived its usefulness. The city drained the bowl and built in
its place the twenty-acre Williamsbridge Oval playground in
1937.Y (Mead, 1982: pp. 14-16) (See the following photograph.)

"At the turn of the century when Norwood was being
developed, 204th Street (then Woodlawn Road) was equally as
residential as commercial. However, by 1920, more stores were
needed. The plan was to move the houses around corners, one
after the cther.

The socuth side of 204th Street, between Hull and Decatur
Avenues, was high and rocky. Four houses were moved from that
elevation, after which the rock was blasted to make both sides of
the street one level. Over a period of five years, the blueprint
plans were prepared and approved, houses moved one after the
other to new sites, streets resurveyed, rock blasted and new
stores built."” {ibid.: p. 39) The commercial expansion of this
period is most probably directly related to the 1920 introduction
of the 3rd Avenue E1l into Norwocod. Up until that time the only
transportation in and out of the east side of Norwoocd was by
trolley cars along Webster Ave. With the exception of the nearby
Valentine-Varian house and six frame houses on Bainbridge Avenue
at 207th Street, this early subway terminus was a very deserted
area when development began in Norwood. In 1982 three of these
original six structures were still standing (3176, 3199, and 3025
Bainbridge Avenue)} although they were surrounded by a modern
shopping district. (ibid.: p. 79)

The northernmost section of Neighborhood 5, situated between
Gun Hill Road and the current scuthern boundary of Woodlawn, was
an exception to the residential activity evident in the rest of
Norwood by 1896-97. The northwestern portion of Neighborhecod 5 -
bordered by Jerome, Gun Hill and Bainbridge - was unimproved land
during the last decade of the nineteenth century while the land
to the east of ¢this unimproved 1land - bordered by Gun Hill and
Putmam Place -~ hosted a large scale institution. The-small tri-
angular plot between Putnam Place and the Bronx River in the
northeastern portion of Neighborhood 3 was already a commercial/
industrial complex by the late 1890s.
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Og R. P. Bolton suggested that Sachkerah was a trail that ran
on an east-west axis across the north Bronx. (1922: p. 101)
According to Grumet's illustration, p. 69, this trail passed
over the Gun Hill Road -~ Bronx River crossing.

NYC
3_
12-

LPC Neighborhood Maps, 1876

residential cluster

transportation complex

agricultural land

cemetery (large, over one block in size) _

The remaindeir of the Neighborhood 5 area listed as 1 - 3:
agricultural land and scattered residences.

LPC Neighborhood Maps, 1896-7

reservoir

unimproved land

institutional complex

commercial/industrial complex

cemetery (large, over one block in size)

The remainder of the Neighborhood 5 area listed as 3:
residential cluster.

New York City Designated Landmark:
High Pumping Station, Jerome Avenue (between Mosholu Park
South and Van Cordlandt Avenue)
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The reconstruction of the Williamsbridge Reservoir, 1937. The old reservoir has
been drained, and playground equipment and landscaping have been added to
make it 2 new park, The gurved street is Reservoir Oval, and the tunnel entrance
faces Van Cortlandt Avenue East at Bainbridge Avenue.

The Bronx County Historical Society Collection, New York Ciry.

Photocopied from

Mead, Edna
1982 The.Bronx Triangle: A Portrait of Norwood.
New York: The Bronx Historical Society. p. 61
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QUEENS NEIGHBORHOODS 1 --14 PREHISTORIC QVERVIEW

Native American exploitation of the Queens County area is
well documented by ethnographic reports from the seventeenth
century (e.g., Denton), antiquarian research during the nine-
teenth and early twentieth century (e.g., Riker and Bolton), and
by both amateur and professional archaeclogical reports (e.qg.,
Asadorian, Lopez, Harrington, Wisniewski, Solecki, Kaeser, and
Ceci).

The Queens County landscape during the majority of the pre-
historic period of Native Amnerican occupation (approximately
11,000 to 370 years ago) was much different from what we see to-
day due to the rise in sea level since approximately 3,000 years
ago. New York archaeclogists divide this prehistoric peried into
three sub-periods: the Paleo-Indian, the Archaic, and the Wood-
land.

The only evidence of Paleo-Indian occupation in Queens
County is a projectile point for which no provenience was given.
There is a scarcity of reported Paleo sites throughout the
Northeast and Middle-Atlantic states due to the migratory nature
of their 1life-style, low population density, and the subsequent
inundation of many low-lying areas. Archaic and Woodland camp,
village, burial, and special purpose sites in the borough of
Queens have been documented. In the coastal and tidewater area
of New York the Archaic Stage followed the Paleo-Indian Stage
(c.9,000 years ago) and "is represented by numerous, small,
nearly always multi-component sites, variously situated on tidal
inlets, coves and bays, particularly at the heads of the latter,
and on freshwater ponds on Long Island, Shelter Island, Manhat-
tan Island, Fisher's 1Island, and Staten Island and along the
lower Hudson River on terraces and knolls, at various elevations
having no consistent relationship ¢to the particular cultural
complex." (Ritchie, 1980: p. 143} Polished stone tools (e.qg.,
pluTmets, net sinkers, and celts) are markers for the Archaic
Period.

By the time of the Woodland Stage (c.3,000 years ago) the
sea level and exposed cocastal regions were, in most respects, as
they appear today. Although the Woodland Stage Native Americans
preferred occupation sites situated on well drained terraces or
knolls overlooking bodies of water, they did take advantage of
the natural richness of the low areas. The appearance of cera-
mics (non-wheel formed clay vessels) is a marker for the Woodland
Stage. There is some disagreement among southern New York
archaeologists as to whether maize cultivation is a Late Woodland
cultural trait. The Native American establishment of large,
permanent coastal villages might very well have depended on the
introduction of maize cultivation which may or may not have been
a result of the very earliest contact with Europeans.



Anthropologists and linquists agree that when Europeans
arrived in the Queens area the Native Americans were Munsee-
speaking Upper Delaware Indians. (Goddard, 1978: p. 214) (See the
following map.} Denton reported, in 1660, that the diseases
introduced by the white men had already reduced the Indian
population in this area of Long Island from six to two villages.
As described by Denton, the Native Americans at this time
»,..live principally by Hunting, Fowling, and Fishing; their
wives being the Husbandmen toc till the Land, and plant their
corn." "The meat they live most upon is Fish, Fowl, and Venison;
they eat like wise Plecats, Skunks, Racoon, Possum, Turtles, and
the like. They build small moveable Tents, which they remove
two or three times a year, having their principal quarters where
they plant their corn; their Hunting quarters and their Fishing
Quarters.” (Denten, 1902: p. 45)

Reginald Bolton's research in the early twentieth century is
a basic reference text for identifying Indian trails, planting
fields, and camp sites in all of the boroughs. Grumet's more
recent research has also become a basic reference text that, in
most instances, corroborates Bolteon's earlier conclusions.
Bolton and Grument are two of the standard indicators used by the
New York City Landmarks Preservation Commission in identifying
potentially sensitive archaeological areas. Both of these experts
listed many archaeological sites in Queens County. (See the
following Boltdén and Grumet maps.)

Fortunately Queens experienced a great deal of archaeclogi-
cal attention during this century and we are able to use the
field reports and published articles to locate areas known to
have, at one time, yielded archaeological material. Unfortunate-
ly, most of this early research was done as a salvage effort when
the development of the borough threatened cultural resources. We
do know that certain archaeological sites have been totally or -
partially destroyed. The following map by Solecki shows a large
number of prehistoric sites that were extant in the borough be-
fore the 1940s. Although there has been extensive construction,
road building, and landfilling in the borough, the potential for
extant prehistoric archaeological rescurces is still high. As
can be seen on the following maps, the majority of archaeological
work focused on the shoreline sites that were easily identified
by the concentration of shellfish debris (middens) or focused on
the path of modern construction. This approach has yielded both
a spatial and functional bias in the recorded archaeological
data. The near exclusive study of shell middens has yielded a
wealth of information on Long Island's coastal strip but also a
skewed perspective on the functional range of prehistoric sites.
The limited number of inland archaeological sites investigated
and reported is not necessarily indicative of a lack of inland
archaeological sensitive areas. (Lightfoot, et al, 1985: p. 64;
Wyatt, 1982: p. 77) (See the following maps from Sclecki and
Lightfoot.)



Note on Figures for Queens Study

Figures 1-6 are referred to in the pre-historic overview and
follow that section.

Figures 7-14 follow the historic overview
Figures 7-12 are maps ranging from 1781 to 1904 which trace
the development of the Borough
Figure 13 shows Neighborhood 14 (College Point) in 1895
Figure 14 shows Neighborhood 1 (Hallet's Point) in 1851



Fig.1l

Photocopied from
Solecki, 1941

[
j\;\e.
X/
- S o _
{M ..5.,-,-4:2.'..1‘.'-:"
Bay G ) A
.r"'” A 4-a )

“INDIAN VILLAGE SITZS: Triangles ondiagram indicote sites ez-
plored oy Commitiee on American sntaropology of the Flusi-
wng Historical Society. [mportant locatsens descrided in
accompanyiny article are naumderes.



~

QUEENS / 7)

\/‘a

[

g =z

o & , =

{1 > i ]

\_\ o
OxfAieyfand

Park I
i
/

Bl

Robert Grumet,1981

Fig.2



Fig.3

Fig. 1. i7th-century tribal territory and western relocations in the Susquehanna Valley (before 1709-1772), Ohio Valley (1724-1795). and Ontario
{1785-present).

Ives Goddard, 1978
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QUEENS NEIGHBORHOOD 1
POT COVE

This knob of land is in the Astoria section, but was ori-
ginally part of a 1,500 acre patent grant by Governor Stuynesant
to William Hallet, the first settler, in 1654. Hallet's Cove
still bears his name. The steam powered ferry's introduction
in 1815 led to the area's growth as a suburb. It was incorpo-
rated as the village of Astoria in 1839. Fort Stevens was built on
the north corner known as Hallet's Point in 1815. *¥
Also located in the vicinity of Hallet's Point - Pot Cove after
the mid-nineteenth century-were homes of wealthy shippers and
lumber merchants whose businesses were dotted along the coastline
of Astoria. It is therefore one of the oldest neighborhoods
in Long Island City; between 1860 and 1900 this was "The Hill,"
one of the most aristocratic sections of town.

Most of the houses on 12th and 14th Streets are large
two and a half - three story structures which often occupy gen-
erous plots. Most of this housing stock dates to mid-nineteenth
century. The houses facing 2lst Street and just west of it are ,
smaller; ‘this was the lower-class Irish area in eariy AN
Astoria. At the foot of 12th and l4th Streets is a run-down
waterfront area. '

The former Dutch Reformed Church of Hallet's Cove, built
in 1888, is on the west side of 12th Street. There is a cemetery
on the northwest corner of 26th Avenue and 2lst Street, the
original burial ground for the Catholic parish of Our Lady of
Mount Carmel. The plot is about 82' x 188', with most burials
between 1844 and 1870. For years the place was like a jungle,
but in 1983 the diocese cleaned and fenced the vandalized site.

There are several notable houses still standing, among
them the Benner Mansion at 25-37 14th Street, built in the
Southern Colonial style about 1848.

** In 1814 a special committee said fortifications were needed
at Hells Gate, so the Commissioners had erected a "fortification,
mounting twelve guns at Hallet's Point, and another on Mill
Rock." (Stokes, 1928, vol.iii,p.553) The cornerstone was laid
on June 10,1815 by DeWitt Clinton, the Commissioners, Commodore
Decatur, and General Swift. (ibid,p.1571)
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QUEENS NEIGHBORHOOD 1

A 4535 State Museum Inventory Number. Shell heap

-- % =SHPO inventory number A081-01-0099 - all of Hallet's Point
% marks specific site

-..~ NYC Landmarks Preservation Commission Neighb
12 transportation ghborhoods 1850s

s e s™ 18905 w
8 Parks and recreation

O Bolton, Reginald. Sanfords Point, Astoria. A station which
was marked by various Indian objects, was favorably situated
on this point of land extending into the East River,



QUEENS NEIGHBORHOOD 2
SUNNYSIDE/WOOQODSIDE

This whole section along both sides of Queens Blvd. be-
tween 40th and 58th Streets is today called Sunnyside and is
relatively recent. Down toc about 1917 when the Flushing line
of the IRT was opened, this was an unpopulated area of open fields.
On the north side and extending up Skillman Avenue is "Sunnyside
Gardens," the site for a unique experiment in urban housing
(1924). It was a well-planned garden concept development within
the confines of a city-block grid.

South of Queens Boulevard are apartment houses, nearly all
of which were built between 1925 and 1931 by various developers
during the feverish building boom in western Queens just before
the depression.

: East of Roosevelt Avenue Woodside begins. The area north
of Queens Blvd. is a mixture of commercial structures and old
housing stock behind the factories and stores, most of them built
between 1895 and 1910. This was a development known as"Woodside

Heights" beginning in 1886. At the turn of the century there

was an outdoor park and beer garden on the northeast corner of
Greenpoint Avenue and Queens Blvd; in the 1920s a public swimmming
pool occupied the site. The narrow strip from 58th Street to

64th Street on the north side of Queens Blvd. is a commercial

zone with occasional intrusions of old houses. The former right-
of-way of the Long Island Railroad's main line crossed Queens
Blvd. at 62nd Street before 1915; traces of this are revealed

in the shape of the abutting lots.
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QUEENS NEIGHBORHOOD 2

.- NYC LPC Neighborhood Maps 1850s
'3/1 residential ioodside
.- NI{C LPC Nieghborhood Maps 1890s
3/2 residential Woodside southeast boundary

+ Cumberson Cemetery NYC LPC Cemetery List) Betts Avenue{old)
and Queens Boulevard next to Calvary Cemetery



QUEENS NEIGHBORHOOD 3
JACKSON HEIGHTS

Neighborhood 3 encompasses a strip along 37th Avenue from
73rd Street to Junction Avenue. Historically, this area was
known as "Train's Meadow” all during the 18th and 19th
centuries. It was a somewhat low-lying, grassy section, once
the origin of a small stream flowing north to what is now
LaGuardia Field. Only one crooked road crossed it - Train's
Meadow Road. This was abolished by the Board of Estimate in
1915 to allow the Queensboro Coroporation, developers of Jackson
Heights, to put in rectangular streets. The first modern road
to cross from east to west was Northern Boulevard, laid out in
1860. Roosevelt Avenue was not laid out until 1%13 and was not
passable for cars until 1919.

All the streets including 37th Avenue (old Polk Avenue) were
laid out and paved by the Queensboro Corp., a syndicate that
bought out all the farms and began a planned community beginning
in 1909. Eighty-second Street was the first street to be cut
through and the £first apartment house went up at 82nd and
Northern Blvd., in 1914. The whole development was named
"Jackson Heights" after Samuel Jackson who laid out Northern
Blvd. in 1860. Construction of apartments was slow until the
elevated line opened in 1917; the war also stopped building.
Beginning in 1920, construction began on an ever-increasing
scale and by the Depression, much of the land was built on.
Thirty-seventh Avenue, laid out as an 80 foot street, was and is
the neighborhood shopping center, but many apartment houses also
abut the street.

On the south side of 37th Avenue there is mostly brick and
frame private housing from 73rd to 77th Streets. From 77th
Street the Jackson Heights through to 90th Street. From 91st
to 95th Street there are many frame detached houses built in
1928-29., The stretch from 94th Street to Junction is the old
Leverich Estate and was not built on till 1928-31.

[See also Neighborhood 13]
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QUEENS NEIGHBORHOOD 3

..= NYC LPC Neighborhood Maps 1890s
3/1 Elmhurst
3/2 Corona
15/3/1 1898 combination of agricultural land, residential and
unimproved,

+ Moore Cemetery (1760-1865) nearby in Block 1131 (NYC LPC Cemetery list)



QUEENS NEIGHBORHOOD 4
ELMHURST

The center point of the project study area - the inter-
section of Broadway and Queens Boulevard - is the site of the
second oldest colonial settlement on Long Island after South-
hold (1640). The Rev. Francis Doughty, a non-conformist minis-
ter from Massachusetts, secured permission from the Dutch autho-
rities in New Amsterdam to start a settlement at the junction of
Maspeth and Newtown Creeks in 1642. Hardly had the settlers
erected the first dwellings than the First Indian War broke out
in 1643. A raiding party of red men rowed up Newtown Creek,
surprised the settlement and burnt it to the ground.

Ten years later - 1652 - Doughty and his English colonists
chose a safer site farther inland for a second attempt at colo-
nization. In this way the village of Newtown was founded at what
is now Elmhurst. The site offered all the attractions of a per-
manent settlement: fresh water in Horse Brook flowing through
the site; fertile meadows all around for agriculture and woods
not far off for building material and hunting. The Flushing

Meadows two miles away offered Plenty of salt hay for winter
fodder and bedding for cattle. :

Newton Village slowly grew in the succeeding years; more
English settlers drifted in, a Congregational chapel was built,
a school taught by the minister opened, a Town clerk and magis-
trate were elected and roads were laid out. From the beginning
there were no large estates. People lived in small houses in the
neighborhood of what is now Queens Boulevard and walked to their
fields on the outskirts of the village. There were a few crafts-
men among the villagers like blacksmiths, millers, and wheel-
wirghts, but everybody conducted some sort of farm to provide

daily necessities except the minister who was paid for his ser-
vices in kind and in firewood.

The Village of Newtown became the Town seat of the Town of
Newtown and took on some importance as a result. A Town clerk
recorded property transfers and sometimes wills and estate inven-
tories; a town hall was built housing the jail, the assessors, the

sheriff and the court and magistrate's offices. Road overseers
and fence watchers were appointed yearly; also later on, a super-
visor, the top administrative official was named,

In the hundred years between the setting-up of the Towns
(1683) and the outbreak of the Revolution (1776), New town grew
considerably. The population went up by natural increase and
Dutch families began to infiltrate from Brooklyn and even New
York. There was also some immigration from Europe. The Indian
population rapidly declined through European introduced diseases
and emigration to Jersey and the West.



"The inhabitants were so entirely given to agriculture,
and had pursured it so assiduously, that in 1723 all the land in
the township had been taken up." (HISTORY OF QUEEN'S COUNTY,
1882, P.333) So the younger sons of Newtown's families had to
move off Long Island to find free open land on which to settle.
Farm size rapedly dimished in the 18th century by sub-division
among heirs and sales. By 1776 Newtown was a well-established
village with an upper class of landed gentry, small farmers,
journeymen and a very tiny professional group.

The Revolution found Newtown divided. The wealthier families
had ,, interest in maintaining the status-quo: the Anglican
church had been established against the will of the townspeople
in 1704 and it formed the nucleus of Tory sentiment. The Con-
gregationalists and Presbyterians, the only other groups, were
strongly anti-Royalist in their sympathies. The Battle of Long
Island (August 26-28, 1776) decided the fate of the island;
beginning in September 1776 British troops occupied Newtown and
its outlying villages, patrolled the roads and exacted both food
and lodging from the conquered populace. The local inhabitants
were robbed often and all the woods cut down for fires in the
soldiers' tents. Throughout the occupation Newtown was a town of
divided loyalties with its sons represented in both armies.

When peace came in 1783 the British lingered on for months
in order to evacuate their sympathizers to a refuge in Nova
Scotia. Feeling ran high against these people; a few dared to
return from Canada years later but often found their farms confi-
scated or sold off. The physical devastation left behind by the
British took at least a quarter cnetury to repair: cattle depleted

or destroyed, woods cut down, churches destroyed, and farms
neglected.

The Village of Newtown and, in fact, the whole Town of
Newtown had a quiet history for the long period 1783-1850. It
was a time of healing and recovery with a very small increase
in population. The advent of European immigration because of
the Irish potato famine (1847) and the revolutions in Central
Europe (1848) stirred up the stagnant pace of life in Queens.

Developers and speculators began to appear, buying up farms and
laying out new sub-divisions and even villages. A good example,
though out of the study area, is Samuel Lord of the firm of Lord
and Taylor who opened up a general store on Broadway and built
himself a mansion at Broadway andElmhurst Avenue. He erected
Six spacious mansions (Clermont Terrace)on the north side of

Broadway between the railroad and the Episcopal Church and
rented them as an investment. .



The Civil War was a further quickening influence. Many
Newtown boys saw the outside world for the first time and life
was never thereafter the same. In 1854 the Flushing Railroad .
laid its tracks through Newtown Village to the East River. As
early as 1801 the Flushing and Newtown Turnpike Road and Bridge
Co. opened its road along 51st Avenue and Laurel Hill Blvd. to
Greenpoint, Brooklyn, and Newtown Village became a junction point
for travellers when stage coaches were at the peak of their pop-
ularity in the late 1840s and 1850s. The importance of Newtown
Village was further enhanced when Thomson Avenue was laid out
and opened from Long Island City to Broadway in 1870, giving a
direct through route to New York. In the same year - 1870 -
Hoffman Ave. was laid out from Broadway, Newtown, to Jamaica,
at that time the most populous village in the county. Thomson
Avenue and Hoffman Avenue today are the western and eastern ends,
respectively, of Queens Boulevard. The increased travel through
Newtown Village spurred the opening of a hotel, the "Newtown
Hotel," NW corner of S51st Avenue and Broadway, and several saloons.

After 1870 Newtown Village began to be greatly outstripped
by the explosive growth of Long Island City and Flushing. 1In
the late 19th century press the village is gently mocked for its
conservatism, smallness, and general air of somnolence. (Seyfried,
1985,p.100) Of course, this could not last; in 1876, the street
railway reached Newtown Village with its tracks in Broadway. In
1895 another street car line came through Broadway and 43rd
Aveneu going on to Corona and Flushing. Meanwhile, new villages
grew up on all sides. One of these villages was developed in 1893
by Cord Meyer and named "Elmhurst." Though it was located north-
west of the Village of Newtown (and of the project area), the
name soon came to apply to the whole town.

Elmhurst entered New York City in 1898 along with the rest
of Queens and shared in the rapid development that began with
the opening of the Queensborough Bridge (1909) and the electri-
fication of the Long Island Railroad (1913). The 200 foot wide
Queens Boulevard was laid out in 1910 as an arterial highway
through ‘the heart of Queens and as an outlet for the automobile
traffic that the bridge was beginning to bring in. The excep-
tional width oi the boulevard caused the condemnation of a large
number of buildings on the south side of the old road through
Newtown and on the north side between 536th Avenue and the Long
Island Expressway. Though the full width of the new highway

was curbed and guttered, it was not until the 1940s that the
full 200 foot width was used for five-lane traffic in each di-
rection. (Seyfried,REGISTER Index) In 1913 a trolley line was
built along the new road, linking Elmhurst with Long Island
City and bringing New York within the 5¢ fare zone. (Reif-~
schneider, 1950, P.15) In 1932 the Queensbrough Subway began
to be constructed through Broadway and Queens Boulevard. In
tunneling under Broadway for the four-track line, almost all
the old 19th century wooden buildings on both sides of the
street had to be demolished; as a result, Elmhurst lost much
of its old-time village charm. In 1937 the subway was opened

through to Jamaica, bringing rapid transit to central Queens
for the first time.



In the post-World War II years, the Long Island Express-
way was built near the edge of the study area, and many mid-
rise apartments were constructed along Broadway, Elmhurst Avenue,
and Queens Boulevard. Commercial buildings were erected along the
Long Island Railroad and Queens Boulevard,

(See also Neighborhood 5)



I QUALITY HOUSING -
ARCHAEOLOGICAL RESOURCE OVERVIEW
Queens

l "Neighborhood 4




QUEZNS NEIGHBORHOOD 4

+ NYC LPC Cemetery List

+1 Burroughs 1793-1871

+2 Duryea Farm dates not given

+3 0ld Newtown 1760-1860

+4 Reform Church of Newtown 1808-1849

+5 Saint James 1700-

0 Bolton, Reginald "The line of Broadway was evidently a natural

- line of travel bhetween their Flushing settlement and their
stations on the North Shore. Armbruster states that at the
time of the arrival of the first white settlers an Indian
trail existed where now Broadway runs.” (Bolton,1922,p.183)

-..= NYC LPC Neighborhood Maps 1850s Newtown Village
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QUEENS NEIGHBORHOOD 35
REGO PARK NORTH

Neighborhood S5 is a mixed section heavily affected by the
penetration of Eliot Avenue (a 1930s street) and the Long Island
Expressway. The western end is a tangle of access ramps connect-
ing Woodhaven Blvd., the Expressway and Queens Blvd. Woodhaven
Blvd. was widened in the mid-1920s to 150 feet. Putting through
Eliot Avenue and finally the Expressway leveled many blocks of
early 1920s small private residences on 25x100 foot plots. What
remains of the old neighborhood lies east of Eliot Avenue and
north of the railrcad. These are all 2} story frame residences;
one by one they are being bought up for apartments encroaching
from Queens Blvd. The Woodhaven Blvd. station on the Queens-
borough Subway is only three to five blocks away. South of the
railroad are newer dwellings (1930s), brick row houses, all at-
tached and all on 20 foot lots.

The small section north of Queens Boulevard and below the
Expressway is all apartments and one or two parking lots. The
Junction Avenue frontage is solidly high-rise apartment houses,
densely built and densely populated.

At Eliot and Queens Blvd. was formerly an ancient family
burying ground {Gorsline) with four stones still legible in
1919. Burials dated from 1812-1857. It was probably obliter-
ated during the widening of Queens Blvd. and would now be in
the eastbound traffic lanes.

[See also Neighborhood 4]
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QUEENS NEIGHBORHOOD 5

+ NYC LPC Cemetery List Cemetery on Queens Blvd. 1812-1853.

-...- NYC LPC Neighborhood Maps 1890s
3 Nassau Heights - residential
15/1/3 Farm land/unimproved/scattered residential



QUEENS NEIGHBORHOOD 6
REGO PARK

The whole area of this neighborhood was empty land down
to 1930. In the 19th century the North Hempstead Plank Road-
now 63rd Road- Apex Place and 62nd Drive crossed the upper edge
of the tract. There were scattered farm houses along it. A
Hundred and Second Street (0ld Astpria Road), a 49 foot dirt
street, dropped south from the Plank Road to Queens Blvd. There
were no houses along it. Early in the 19th century before Hoffman
Blvd. (Queens Blvd.) was laid ocut, one had to use 102nd Street
and the Plank Road to pass from Elmhurst to Jamaica. Ninety-
ninth Street, Yellowstone Blvd. and 108th Street are all post
WWII creations.

In the lower part of the tract are a few older private
houses; the majority of the housing is now garden apartment and
larger apartments.
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QUEENS NEIGHBORHOOD 6

~...- NYC LPC Neighborhood Maps 1890s
15/1/3 farmland/unimproved/scattered residential



QUEENS NEIGHBORHOOD 7
FOREST HILLS

This Forest Hills neighborhood is bounded by the LIRR to
Austin Street, 71lst Avenue to Union Turnpike. The Queens Blvd.
side is an unbroken row of retail stores of all kinds, catering
to the residents of the high-risers on either side of Queens Blvd.
The Austin Street side has a few stores near 71st Avenue. This
whole neighborhood is the creation of the Independent Subway
which opened here in April 1937. Before that, most of the lots
were empty and occasional residences dotted the area. Rapid
urbanization began in 1932 with the widening of Queens Blvd.
in preparation for the subway. Most of the larger and hlgher
apartment houses are creations of the 1950s and 60s.

_ The area which is Forest Hills is named for the wooded
heights it occupies. It was originally known as Whitepot from
an old story that Europeans bought the land from the Indians for
two white pots. At any rate, the locality was probably settled
about 1650 and from then through the 19th century was farmland.
In 1903 Cord Meyer, knowing that the electrification of the LIRR
was near and that this area would become prime development land,
purchased several farms from the old Dutch settlers who had
farmed here since the early 18th century (Lott, Springsteen,
etc.). In 1910-11 Meyer sold his holdings south of the LIRR
to the Russell Sage foundation.  Both Cord Meyer and the Sage
Foundation made great efforts to build an English garden village
through careful planning, hiring top architects and careful
landscaping. Work began as early as 1912 but most of today's
housing dates from the 1920s.

The strip along Queens Blvd. has totally changed as a result
of the opening of the subway in 1937. Small stores gave way to
apartment houses and in the 1950s and 60s to giant high-risers.
Queens Blvd. - 200 feet wide -~ is now a heavy-traffic arterial
highway and apartment houses are creeping up the side streets
crowding out the older private homes.



: QUALITY HOUSING
ARCHAEOLOGICAL RESOURCE OVERVIEW
:
Queens % \
'N-e_ighborhood-\z y
1 \
i
i
i
i
i
i
i
i
I .
l MAPLE CROVE
l CEMETERY
I
l



QUEENS NEIGHBORHOOD 7

-...— NYC LPC Neighborhood Maps: 1390s

15/1/3 Farmland /unimproved/scattered residential
This category covers entire neighborhood
-Neighborhood 7 abuts to the south the 1890s
neighborhood, Maple Hill Park
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QUEENS NEIGHBORHQQOD 8
KEW GARDENS

Once part of the Lefferts family farmland, this neighbor-

+hood is now a substantial residential section. 1In the first

decade of the twentieth century, the site was the upper end of
a golf course with a lake, but in 1910, the LIRR undertook a
relocation of its main line tracks through Forest Hills to eli-
minate a curve. The new roadbed cut the old golf course in
half and forced filling in the lake. The Man Estate that owned
the property at that time then laid out the land on either side
of the tracks as an expensive residential area. The Long Island
Railroad opened a new station (still standing) called Kew and
later Kew Gardens, named after the botanical garden in London
which the neighborhood supposedly resembled. The houses were
large, architecturally varied and built on substantial plots.
A residential hotel was erected facing the south platform of
the station in 1922 (now a Senior Citizen hotel). On the west
end near Metropolitan Avenue there is apartment house en-
croachment {(built around 1930),
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QUEENS NEIGHBORHOOD 9
JAMAICA

A long narrow strig along Hillside Avenue from Queens Blvd.
to 173rd Street makes up this Neighborhood in Jamaica. It was
originally settled by the English in the mid-seventeenth cen-
tury and chartered by Governor Stuyvesant scon thereafter.

The name was soon changed to Jamaica, from the Jameco Indians,
the aboriginal settlers. Because of its proximity to Brooklyn
and Manhattan, Jamaica 'early in the eighteenth century became a
trading center for the farmers of Long Island; here was brought
the produce of the truck farms for which the island was famous.
The real growth of Jamaica stems from the electrification of the
Long Island Railroad in 1910 and extension of the subways in
the 1920s.

Today the whole stretch of about 23 blocks is heavily
commercial. The western end up to Sutphin Blvd. is lined with
auto showrooms and small repair shops. East of Sutphin Blvd.
there is a mixture of old apartment houses, showrooms, used car
lots, realty firms, and ethnic food shops. There are subway
stations at Sutphin Blvd., Parsons Blvd, and at 169th Street.
The latter two are also the termini for many bus lines serving
south Queens.
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QUEENS NEIGHBORHOOD 9

4 45hé State Museum Inventory Number. Traces of pre-
nistoric occupation.

8 NYC Landmark  Grace Episcopal Church and Graveyard

@eN NYC and National Register Landmark King Mansion Museum

* SHPO 1inventory number A081-01-0104 Listed by reporting
archaeologist as being eligible for National Register
status.

* SHPO inventory number A081-01-0152 Proposed Federal
Building, Jamaica, N.Y. Seventeenth Century structures
to 1830s situated almost exclusively on Jamaica Avenue.

-..= NYC LPC Neighborhood Maps 1850s
3 Village of Jamaica

-...-NYC LPC Neighborhood Maps 1890s
3 Village of Jamaica

O Bolton, Reginald. Designation of an Indian trail,
Mechawanienck, which corresponds to Jamaica.



QUEENS NEIGHBORHOODS 10 AND_11
FLUSHING

Both neighborhcods 10 and 11 are located in Flushing, one
of the most historic areas in Queens. The Bowne family -
Englishmen - settled here in 16142 and the town (Dutch Vlissingen)
was chartered by Gov. XKieft in 1645. John Bowne purchased land
from the Indians in 1661 on which to build a house which still
stands at 37-01 Bowne Street. The Bownes were Quakers and they
and their co-religionists met clandestinely during persecution
under Gov. Stuyvesant, and later in the Quaker Meeting House
on Northern Blvd. between Main and Union Streets. George Fox,
founder of the Society of Friends preached to his adherents in
1672; William Penn visited Samual Bowne in 1700; and George
Washington stayed in Flushing in 1789 and 90.

By the 18th century Flushing had become an important village
thanks to its location on Flushing Bay. During the Revolution
the British occupied the village and kept troops stationed there
until 1783. The village remained static to 1850, but develop-
ment thereafter was rapid. The railroad came in 1854 and the
Flushingand North Side Railrocad in 1868. Many wealthy New Yorkers
built country seats in Flushing because daily commutation to
the city was possible (only six miles) and cheap. After the
Civil War (to which Flushing sent a company) expansion pushed
the borders eastward and southward. By the 1880s the town was
known for its large number of stately homes.

When Flushing entered New York City as part of the Borough
of Queens, a commercial development began. The trolley came in
1898 with a five-cent fare to Long Island City. The whole
character of the village began to change with the opening of
the subway in 1928, The low fare brought hordes of home buyers
and heavy commercialization to Main Street.

After World War II Flushing rapidly lost its residential
character. The huge municipal parking lot on 37-38th Avenues
gutted the residential heart of the old village. The large
private homes disappeared one by one to be replaced by apartments,
Show streets like Sanford Avenue lost their Mansard mansions
almost overnight during the 1960s. Today ten and twelve story
apartment houses are commonplace in downtown Flushing.

Study Area 11 is part of the Murray Hill section of
Flushing. The section owes its name to the family of William
Murray, who were early landowners. (The Murray Hill section
of Manhattan was named for this same family.)



] QUALITY 'HOUSING
ARC/HAEOLOGICAL RESOURCE OVERVIEW

-

e N : "
~~ Queens kRt .
\, Neighborhood 10 T ) e

. -

\,




QUEENS NEIGHBORHOOD 10
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4 L524 State Museum Inventory Number. Burial site - pre-historic

A 4526 State Museum Inventory Number. Matinicock Indian

settlements

Bowne House, 37-01 Bowne Street, Flushing. O0ldest
surviving house in Queens - 17th century.

Ceci, Lynn. Historical Archaeclogy at the 1661 John Bowne
House, Flushing, N.Y. Report on file at NYGC LPC

Friends Meeting House Erected 1694-~1719

NYC LPC Neighborhood Maps 1850s

3 Flushing Village.It expanded to encompass the entire
study area by 1898. -

Grumet, Robert. Unidentified pre-historic habitation site
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QUEENS - NEIGHBORHOOD 11
a 4526 State Museum Inventory Number.
settlements

4 525 State Museum Inventory Number.
historic

Matinicock Indian

Burial site, Pre-



QUEENMS NEIGHBORHOODS 12A AND 12B
BAYSIDE

Both neighborhoods 12A and 12B lie in the Bayside section
of northeast Queens. The first settler was William Lawrenca
who made his home here in 1664. "A majority of Baysiders were
Tories during the Revolution, and as such were twice attacked
by whaleboat parties of raiders from New Rochelle." (WPA, 193%:
p.572} The area was decidedly rural until! 1910 when the LIRR's
East River Tunnels linked it with Manhattan.

Bayside as a village goes back to the 1880s; by 1900 there
were stores along Bell Boulevard and large estates beyond, es-
pecially toward the shore along Little Neck Bay. Many of these
were destroyed by Moses' Belt Parkway put through in 1940.
There is a small private cemetery of the Lawrence family just
outside the project area at 216th Street between 42nd and 43rd
Avenues.

Much of the area was farmed until World War II. Bayside
grew rapidly after the building of the Belt Parkway and Clearview
Expressway made the place readily accessible in minutes from
the Bronx, Manhattan and the rest of Queens.
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AUZENS NEIGH3OREOOD 12-A

No inventoried sites or neighborhoods
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QUEENS NEIGHBORHOOD 12-B

=

Lawrence Family Cemetery, Bayside 1832-1916

~...— NYC LPC Neighborhood Maps 1890s

Bayside Village - two concentrations, indefinite
oboundaries. Both listed as "3" - residential



QUEENS NEIGHBORHOOD 13
JACKSON HEIGHTS

A long narrow strip along Northern Blvd from 6%9th to 1ll4th
Street encompasses Neighborhood 13. Northern Blvd. is the
main east-west street in northern Queens. It was laid out in
1859 as the "Hunter's Point, Newtown and Flushing Turnpike Road
Company" and was opened to traffic on July 13, 1860. It traverses
Long Island City, Woodside, Jackson Heights and Corona to Flush-
ing. Down to 1920 it was called Jackson Avenue and then re-
named Northern Blvd. The western end of the project parcel was
very low-lying and was raised ten feet in 1915. Even today
there is a gradual climb from 71st Street, Woodside, with 25
feet elevation to B85th Street, Jackson Heights, with 76 feet
elevation. Between 1912 and 1916 the city worked to regulate
the grade of Northern Blvd. to something approaching uniformity:
the first paving was done in 1920-22. Trolley service began on
Northern Blvd. in 1900 and continued to 1937 when buses took over.

Immediately after World War I Northern Blvd. began to become
a neighborhood/shopping street with new brick three story build-
ings housing apartments upstairs and stores at street level.
In 1925-1930 two theatres and a bank located in the Corona
section; in Jackson Heights rows of stores derived support from
the apartments and the private houses north of the Boulevard.

(See also Neighborhood 3)
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QUEENS NEIGHBORHOOD 13

% Contract report, on file with SHPQ identified prehistoriec
site in the St. Michael's Cemetery. De Leuw Cather/Parsons,
Historic and Archaeological Reso